

Evidence-based Series 6-7 Version 2 - EDUCATION AND INFORMATION 2016

A Quality Initiative of the Program in Evidence-based Care (PEBC), Cancer Care Ontario (CCO)

The Use of Chemotherapy and Growth Factors in Older Patients with Newly Diagnosed, Advanced-Stage, Aggressive Histology Non-Hodgkin's Lymphoma

T. Kouroukis, G. Browman, and R. Meyer

An assessment conducted in November 2016 put Evidence-based Series (EBS) 6-7 Version 2 in the Education and Information Section. This means that the recommendation will no longer be maintained but may still be useful for academic or other information purposes. The PEBC has a formal and standardized process to ensure the currency of each document.

(PEBC Assessment & Review Protocol)

EBS 6-7 Version is comprised of 3 sections

and is available on the <u>CCO Website</u> on the PEBC Hematology page

- Section 1: Clinical Practice Guideline (ENDORSED)
- Section 2: Evidentiary Base
- Section 3: Document Review Summary and Review Tool

Release Date: June 13, 2013

For information about the PEBC and the most current version of all reports, please visit the CCO website at http://www.cancercare.on.ca/ or contact the PEBC office at: Phone: 905-527-4322 ext. 42822 Fax: 905-526-6775 E-mail: copgi@mcmaster.ca

PEBC Report Citation (Vancouver Style): Kouroukis T, Browman G, Meyer R. The use of chemotherapy and growth factors in older patients with newly diagnosed, advanced-stage, aggressive histology non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. Kouroukis T, Ismaili N, reviewers. Toronto (ON): Cancer Care Ontario; 2003 Jun 25

[Endorsed 2013 May 24. Ed & Info 2016 Nov]. Program in Evidence-based Care Practice Guideline No.: 6-7 Version 2 Education and Information 2016.

Journal Citation (Vancouver Style): Kouroukis CT, Browman GP, Esmail R, Meyer RM. Chemotherapy for older patients with newly diagnosed, advanced-stage, aggressive-histology non-Hodgkin lymphoma: a systematic review. Ann Intern Med. 2002 Jan 15;136(2):144-52.

EBS 6-7 VERSION 2

Guideline Report History

GUIDELINE	SY	STEMATIC REVIEW		NOTES AND KEY CHANGES	
VERSION	Search Dates	Data	FODEICATIONS		
Original version June 2003	1966-2001 Full Report		Web publication Journal publication	NA	
Current Version 2 June 2013	2001-2013	New data found in section 3: Document Review Summary and Tool	Updated Web publication	2003 recommendations is ENDORSED	

Table of Contents

Section 1: Guideline Recommendations	1
Section 2: Evidentiary Base	7
Section 3: Document Review Summary and Review Tool	

EDUCATIONA



Evidence-based Series 6-7 Version 2

A Quality Initiative of the Program in Evidence-based Care (PEBC), Cancer Care Ontario (CCO)

The Use of Chemotherapy and Growth Factors in Older Patients with Newly Diagnosed, Advanced-Stage, Aggressive Histology Non-Hodgkin's Lymphoma

T. Kouroukis, G. Browman, and R. Meyer

These guideline recommendations have been ENDORSED, which means that the recommendations are still current and relevant for decision making. Please see <u>Section 3</u>: Document Review Summary and Review Tool for a summary of updated evidence published between 2001 and 2013, and for details on how this Clinical Practice Guideline was ENDORSED.

Report Date: May 24, 2013

Guideline Questions

- 1. What treatment provides the optimum disease control and survival in older patients (at least 60 years of age) with newly diagnosed, advanced-stage, aggressive histology lymphoma?
- 2. What are the toxicities associated with these treatments?
- 3. What are the roles of granulocyte-colony stimulating factor or granulocyte macrophage-colony stimulating factor in combination with chemotherapy in these patients?

Target Population

These recommendations apply to patients older than age 60 who have newly diagnosed, advanced-stage, aggressive histology non-Hodgkin's lymphoma, an Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group (ECOG) performance status of less than 4 and no significant comorbid illnesses.

Recommendations

- Combination chemotherapy with cyclophosphamide, doxorubicin, vincristine and prednisone (CHOP) is recommended for patients with no apparent cardiac disease or significant comorbidity. Dose and schedule should be the same as that used in younger patients.
- The addition of rituximab to CHOP is recommended for patients with diffuse large B-cell lymphoma.
- There is insufficient evidence to support the routine use of granulocyte-colony stimulating factor as primary therapy.

- While use of granulocyte-colony stimulating factor shortens the duration of neutropenia and decreases the infection rate in these patients, no differences in disease control or survival have been detected.
- The primary use of granulocyte-colony stimulating factor is recommended for older patients who are at a particularly high risk of experiencing neutropenic fever. These patients are best identified as those with a poor performance status (ECOG 2 or greater), neutropenia prior to therapy, or an ongoing infection; there are insufficient data to recommend the primary use of granulocyte-colony stimulating factor for patients whose sole risk factor is bone marrow involvement with lymphoma.
- The use of granulocyte-colony stimulating factor as secondary prophylaxis is recommended for patients who have previously experienced an episode of neutropenic fever or a treatment delay resulting from persisting neutropenia.

Qualifying Statements

- Treatment decisions in older patients with aggressive histology lymphoma are complex and may be influenced by comorbidity, patient preferences, quality of life issues, and the goals of the treatment program. These factors may alter recommendations for individual patients and require discussion between health care providers, patients, and their families.
- Radiation therapy is not considered in this guideline and may be an important part of the treatment plan for these patients.

Methods

A systematic search was undertaken of MEDLINE (1966 through January 2002 Week 2), CANCERLIT (1983 through October 2001), EMBASE (1980 to October 2001), Current Contents (1993 to October 2001), the Cochrane Library (Issue 4, 2001), *Best Evidence* (1991 to October 2001), Physician's Data Query clinical trials database, a database of unpublished theses (UMI ProQuest[®]), relevant conference proceedings, and tables of contents for relevant journals. Reference lists were also scanned for additional citations. For the question regarding chemotherapy, we reviewed randomized studies comparing different chemotherapy regimens in patients 60 years of age and older with newly diagnosed, advanced-stage, aggressive histology lymphoma. Randomized studies of granulocyte-colony stimulating factor and granulocyte macrophage-colony stimulating factor encompassing the same patient population were also reviewed. Overall, progression-free, event-free and relapse-free survival, toxicity, quality of life, economic analyses, and response rates were the outcomes of interest.

Evidence was selected and reviewed by four members of the Practice Guidelines Initiative's Hematology Disease Site Group and methodologists. This practice guideline report has been reviewed and approved by the Hematology Disease Site Group, which comprises hematologists, medical oncologists, radiation oncologists, methodologists, and a patient representative.

External review by Ontario practitioners was initially obtained through a mailed survey for the original draft recommendations in August 2000. Because of new data that emerged during this review process, completion of the original guideline report was deferred. External review of the revised guideline report by Ontario practitioners was also obtained through a mailed survey. Final approval of the guideline report was obtained from the Practice Guidelines Coordinating Committee.

The Practice Guidelines Initiative has a formal standardized process to ensure the currency of each guideline report. This process consists of periodic review and evaluation of the scientific literature and, where appropriate, the integration of this literature with the original guideline information.

Key Evidence

• A total of 23 publications (13 full papers and ten abstracts) and two systematic reviews form the basis of evidence for the chemotherapy question. An additional five publications (two practice guidelines, one full paper, and two abstracts) provide evidence for the growth factors section.

- In a randomized trial comparing CHOP with a regimen considered to be less toxic (etoposide, mitoxantrone and prednimustine [VMP]), progression-free and overall survival were superior in the group receiving CHOP.
- In a randomized trial comparing a CHOP-like regimen, in which pirarubicin is substituted for doxorubicin and teniposide is substituted for vincristine (CTVP), with a regimen considered to be less toxic (cyclophosphamide, teniposide and prednisone [CVP]), progression-free and overall survival were superior in the group receiving CTVP.
- In a randomized trial comparing CHOP with a fractionated schedule of weekly CHOP, overall survival was superior in the group receiving standard CHOP.
- In two randomized trials comparing CHOP with a regimen in which mitoxantrone was substituted for doxorubicin (CNOP), progression-free and overall survival were superior in the groups receiving CHOP. In a third randomized trial in which a weekly doxorubicin- containing regimen was compared with a regimen in which mitoxantrone was substituted for doxorubicin, response rate and overall survival were superior in the group receiving the mitoxantrone-containing regimen. The investigators of this study are currently conducting a randomized trial in which the weekly mitoxantrone-containing regimen is compared with CHOP.
- In a randomized trial comparing CHOP to a combined regimen of rituximab and CHOP, event-free and overall survival were superior in the group receiving CHOP plus rituximab.
- In three randomized trials evaluating the primary use of granulocyte-colony stimulating factor, no differences between the randomized groups were detected in disease control or overall survival. Less severe granulocytopenia and fewer infections and days of antibiotic use were observed in patients receiving granulocyte-colony stimulating factor.

Related Guidelines

- Practice Guidelines Initiative's Practice Guideline Report #12-2: Use of Granulocyte Colony-Stimulating Factor (G-CSF) in Patients Receiving Myelosuppressive Chemotherapy for the Treatment of Cancer.
- Evidence-Based Series #6-8: Rituximab in Lymphoma and Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia Update: A Clinical Practice Guideline.

For further information about this practice guideline report, please contact: Dr. Ralph Meyer, Chair, Hematology Disease Site Group, 699 Concession Street, Hamilton, Ontario, L8V 5C2; TEL (905) 525-7820; FAX (905) 575-6340.

The Practice Guidelines Initiative is sponsored by: Cancer Care Ontario & the Ontario Ministry of Health and Long-term Care.

Visit www.ccopebc.ca for all additional Practice Guidelines Initiative reports.

PREAMBLE: About our Practice Guideline Reports

The Practice Guidelines Initiative (PGI) is a project supported by Cancer Care Ontario (CCO) and the Ontario Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care, as part of the Program in Evidence-based Care (PEBC). The purpose of the Program is to improve outcomes for cancer patients, to assist practitioners to apply the best available research evidence to clinical decisions, and to promote responsible use of health care resources. The core activity of the Program is the development of practice guidelines by multidisciplinary Disease Site Groups of the PGI using the methodology of the Practice Guidelines Development Cycle.¹ The resulting practice guideline reports are convenient and up-to-date sources of the best available evidence on clinical topics, developed through systematic reviews, evidence synthesis and input from a broad community of practitioners. They are intended to promote evidence-based practice.

This practice guideline report has been formally approved by the Practice Guidelines Coordinating Committee (PGCC), whose membership includes oncologists, other health providers, patient representatives, and Cancer Care Ontario executives. Formal approval of a practice guideline by the Coordinating Committee does not necessarily mean that the practice guideline has been adopted as a practice policy of CCO. The decision to adopt a practice guideline as a practice policy rests with each regional cancer network that is expected to consult with relevant stakeholders, including CCO.

Reference:

Browman GP, Levine MN, Mohide EA, Hayward RSA, Pritchard KI, Gafni A, et al. The practice guidelines development cycle: a conceptual tool for practice guidelines development and implementation. *J Clin Oncol* 1995;13(2):502-12.

For information about the PEBC and the most current version of all reports, please visit the CCO website at <u>http://www.cancercare.on.ca/</u> or contact the PEBC office at: Phone: 905-527-4322 ext. 42822 Fax: 905-526-6775 E-mail: <u>ccopgi@mcmaster.ca</u>

Copyright

This guideline is copyrighted by Cancer Care Ontario; the guideline and the illustrations herein may not be reproduced without the express written permission of Cancer Care Ontario. Cancer Care Ontario reserves the right at any time, and at its sole discretion, to change or revoke this authorization.

Disclaimer

Care has been taken in the preparation of the information contained in this document. Nonetheless, any person seeking to apply or consult these guidelines is expected to use independent medical judgement in the context of individual clinical circumstances or seek out the supervision of a qualified clinician. Cancer Care Ontario makes no representation or warranties of any kind whatsoever regarding their content or use or application and disclaims any responsibility for their application or use in any way.

Glossary of Chemotherapy Regimens

ACVBP (1)^a: Doxorubicin, cyclophosphamide, vindesine, bleomycin, prednisone, intrathecal methotrexate

ASHAP-mBACOS-MINE (2): Doxorubicin, methylprednisolone, cytarabine, platinum, methotrexate, bleomycin, cyclophosphamide, vincristine

BEP (3): BCNU (carmustine), etoposide, procarbazine

CEOP-B (4): Cyclophosphamide, epirubicin, vincristine, methylprednisolone, bleomycin

CEOP-Bleo (5): Cyclophosphamide, epirubicin, vincristine, prednisone, bleomycin

CEP (6): Cyclophosphamide, etoposide, prednisolone

CEVOP (7): Cyclophosphamide, epirubicin, etoposide, vincristine, prednisone

CIOP-B (5): Cyclophosphamide, idarubicin, vincristine, prednisone, bleomycin

CHOP (8): Cyclophosphamide, doxorubicin, vincristine, prednisone

CHOP-B (4): Cyclophosphamide, doxorubicin, vincristine, methylprednisolone, bleomycin

CHOP-R (9): Cyclophosphamide, doxorubicin, vincristine, prednisone, rituximab

CHOEP (10): Cyclophosphamide, doxorubicin, vincristine, etoposide, prednisone

CNOP (11): Cyclophosphamide, mitoxantrone, vincristine, prednisone

CTVP (12): Cyclophosphamide, pirarubicin, teniposide, prednisone

CVP (12): Cyclophosphamide, teniposide, prednisone

CVP (6): Cyclophosphamide, vindesine, prednisolone

ISHAP-mBICOS-MINE (2): Idarubicin, methylprednisolone, cytarabine, platinum, methotrexate, bleomycin, cyclophosphamide, vincristine

MACOP-B (13): Methotrexate, doxorubicin, cyclophosphamide, vincristine, bleomycin, prednisone

m-BACOD (14): Methotrexate, bleomycin, doxorubicin, cyclophosphamide, vincristine, prednisone

MEP (3): Mitoxantrone, etoposide, procarbazine

MiCEP (15): Mitoxantrone, etoposide, cyclophosphamide, prednisone

PAdriCEBO (16): Prednisolone, doxorubicin, cyclophosphamide, etoposide, bleomycin, vincristine

PMitCEBO (16): Prednisolone, mitoxantrone, cyclophosphamide, etoposide, bleomycin, vincristine

ProMACE-CytaBOM (17): Cyclophosphamide, doxorubicin, etoposide, cytarabine, bleomycin, vincristine, methotrexate, prednisone

ProMECE-CytaBOM (18): Cyclophosphamide, epirubicin, etoposide, cytarabine, bleomycin, vincristine, methotrexate, prednisone

PVABEC (15): Etoposide, doxorubicin, cyclophosphamide, vincristine, bleomycin, prednisone

P-VEBEC (19): Epirubicin, cyclophosphamide, etoposide, vinblastine, bleomycin, prednisone

T-COP (20), THP-COP (21): Pirarubicin, cyclophosphamide, vincristine, prednisone

THP-COPE (21): Pirarubicin, cyclophosphamide, vincristine, prednisone, etoposide

VMP (22): Etoposide, mitoxantrone, prednimustine

Jun

VNCOP-B (23): Cyclophosphamide, mitoxantrone, vincristine, etoposide, bleomycin, prednisone

^aReference numbers



Evidence-based Series #6-7 version 2: Section 2

The Use of Chemotherapy and Growth Factors in Older Patients with Newly Diagnosed, Advanced-Stage, Aggressive Histology Non-Hodgkin's Lymphoma

T. Kouroukis, G. Browman, and R. Meyer

A Quality Initiative of the Program in Evidence-based Care (PEBC), Cancer Care Ontario (CCO)

Report Date: May 24, 2012

These guideline recommendations have been ENDORSED, which means that the recommendations are still current and relevant for decision making. Please see <u>Section 3:</u> Document Review Summary and Review Tool for a summary of updated evidence published between 2001 and 2013, and for details on how this Clinical Practice Guideline was ENDORSED.

I. QUESTIONS

- 1. What treatment provides the optimum disease control and survival in older patients (at least 60 years of age) with newly diagnosed, advanced-stage, aggressive histology lymphoma?
- 2. What are the toxicities associated with these treatments?
- 3. What are the roles of granulocyte-colony stimulating factor (G-CSF) or granulocyte macrophagecolony stimulating factor (GM-CSF) in combination with chemotherapy in these patients?

II. CHOICE OF TOPIC AND RATIONALE

The numbers of elderly persons are increasing and are soon expected to make up 20% of the population in North America (24). One-half of patients with aggressive histology lymphoma are older than 65 years (25). Age is known to be a powerful prognostic factor for overall survival for patients with aggressive histology lymphoma (26). Until recently, patients older than 65 have been under-represented in clinical trials, and most conclusions about the best chemotherapy for these patients have not been based on direct evidence. Outcomes of older patients with lymphoma may differ from those of younger patients due to alterations in disease biology and poorer tolerance of standard chemotherapeutic regimens. Biological age plays a more important role than chronological age, and compromises in response and survival may occur if suboptimal chemotherapy is given to patients with chemosensitive lymphoma (27-30).

The members of the Hematology Cancer Disease Site Group (Hematology DSG) suspected that the selection of chemotherapy for this group of patients varied across Ontario. The availability of recent evidence, the perceived variability in practice patterns, and the potential for this variation to influence the outcomes of older patients led to the development of this topic as a practice guideline. The few published guidelines for patients with lymphoma (31-33) have either not specifically focused on the treatment of older patients (32) or have not used systematic review methodology in their data collection (31;33). Two published guidelines (34-36) and one expert panel review (37) for the use of colony stimulating factors in patients with malignancy have made recommendations in patients receiving myelosuppressive chemotherapy but do not address the older population specifically. The Hematology DSG felt it appropriate to appraise studies on the use of colony stimulating factors in older patients to see whether suggestions should differ from those already published. This guideline will, therefore, address both the optimum choice of primary therapy and the role of granulocyte- (or granulocyte-macrophage) colony stimulating factor when treating older patients with aggressive histology lymphoma. The role of radiation therapy may also be an important part of the overall treatment plan for these patients but will not be addressed in this document.

A previous version of this guideline report was circulated for practitioner feedback in August 2000. Based on the practitioner feedback and the availability of new data, the document was revised and recirculated for practitioner feedback. Portions of this guideline have been published as a systematic review of full paper publications of chemotherapy trials for older patients with aggressive histology lymphoma (38).

III. METHODS

Guideline Development

This practice guideline report was developed by the Practice Guidelines Initiative (PGI) of Cancer Care Ontario's Program in Evidence-based Care (PEBC), using methods of the Practice Guidelines Development Cycle (39). Evidence was selected and reviewed by four members of the PGI's Hematology DSG and methodologists. Members of the Hematology DSG disclosed potential conflict of interest information.

The practice guideline report is a convenient and up-to-date source of the best available evidence on chemotherapy and growth factors in older patients with newly diagnosed aggressive histology lymphoma, developed through systematic reviews, evidence synthesis, and input from practitioners in Ontario. The body of evidence in this report is primarily comprised of mature randomized controlled trial data; therefore, recommendations by the DSG are offered The report is intended to promote evidence-based practice. The Practice Guidelines Initiative is editorially independent of Cancer Care Ontario and the Ontario Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care.

External review by Ontario practitioners was obtained through a mailed survey consisting of items that address the quality of the draft practice guideline report and recommendations and whether the recommendations should serve as a practice guideline. Final approval of the original guideline report was obtained from the Practice Guidelines Coordinating Committee (PGCC).

The PGI has a formal standardized process to ensure the currency of each guideline report. This consists of periodic review and evaluation of the scientific literature and, where appropriate, integration of this literature with the original guideline information.

Literature Search Strategy

Searches were performed without language restriction in the following databases: PreMEDLINE & MEDLINE (1966 through January 2002, Week 2), CANCERLIT (1983 through October 2001), EMBASE (1980 to October 2001), Current Contents (1993 to October 2001), the Cochrane Library (Issue 4, 2001), *Best Evidence* (1991 to October 2001) and an unpublished theses database (UMI ProQuest®(40)). The following terms were used for MEDLINE and CANCERLIT: "lymphoma, non-Hodgkin" (MESH, text word), "lymphoma" (text word) combined with "aged" (text word) or "older" (text word) combined with "chemo:" (text word). These terms were then combined with search terms

for the following study designs: practice guidelines, systematic reviews, meta-analyses, and randomized controlled trials. The detailed search strategy has been described in Appendix I.

Bibliographies of major textbooks, review articles, and primary studies were hand searched. Conference proceedings of the American Society of Hematology (1993-2001), American Society of Clinical Oncology (1993-2001), International (Lugano) Conference on Malignant Lymphoma (1996, 1999), and the European Cancer Conference (ECCO 1995, 1997, 1998, 2001) were searched. A manual review of the table of contents was performed for the following journals from 1993 to 1998: *American Journal of Hematology, Annals of Oncology, Blood, British Journal of Hematology, Cancer, European Journal of Cancer, European Journal of Hematology, Journal of Clinical Oncology,* and the *New England Journal of Medicine*. The Physician's Data Query (PDQ, National Cancer Institute, USA) clinical trials database on the Internet (http://www.cancer.gov/search/clinical_trials/) was searched for trials in progress using the terms "non-Hodgkin's lymphoma, adult" and "chemotherapy".

A separate search for studies assessing risk factors predictive of fever and neutropenia in elderly lymphoma patients was undertaken to assist the Hematology DSG in evaluating the role of primary prophylaxis with growth factors. The following terms were searched in MEDLINE (1966 through September 2001) and CANCERLIT (1984 through September 2001): "lymphoma, non-Hodgkin" (MESH, textword), "lymphoma" (textword) combined with "neutropenia" (textword) and "risk factor" (textword). Abstract publications were not included. Specific parameters to assess the quality of these studies were not applied.

Inclusion Criteria

Articles were selected for inclusion in this systematic review of the evidence if they were fully published reports or published abstracts of randomized controlled trials (RCTs) involving newly diagnosed patients with aggressive histology [intermediate- and high-grade, Working Formulation (41)] lymphoma who were 60 years of age and older. The age threshold of 60 years was chosen in order to remain consistent with the findings of the International Prognostic Index (IPI) (26).

- 1. To assess the role of chemotherapy, RCTs must compare at least two chemotherapy regimens.
- 2. To assess the role of colony stimulating factors, RCTs comparing the use of G-CSF or GM-CSF with a control group were sought. In the initial phase of this guideline, non-randomized studies utilizing colony stimulating factors that included at least ten patients (chosen arbitrarily) were also eligible. These trials were subsequently made ineligible in February 2001 when data from three randomized trials became available.
- 3. Randomized studies assessing the use of monoclonal antibodies (e.g., rituximab) were eligible.
- 4. Subgroup analyses based on age or histology were eligible.

The outcome measures of interest included at least one of the following: overall survival (OS), disease-free (DFS) or failure-free survival (FFS), time-to-treatment failure (TTF), relapse-free survival (RFS), response rate, toxicity, or quality of life measures.

Exclusion Criteria

Studies were excluded if:

- 1. Patients included had indolent lymphoma, refractory or relapsed lymphoma, human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) related lymphoma, Hodgkin's disease, multiple myeloma, or other hematological malignancies;
- 2. Transplantation, maintenance chemotherapy, or interferon were used as interventions; or
- 3. Radiation therapy was used unevenly in experimental and control groups.

Studies assessing the role of chemotherapy were excluded if they incorporated growth factors as part of the primary therapy in all randomized groups. Also, letters and editorials were not considered.

Risk Factors for Fever and Neutropenia

Responses obtained in the first external review by Ontario practitioners of the initial draft version of the evidence-based recommendations supported a need to review and clarify recommendations regarding the use of hematopoietic growth factors for primary prophylaxis to prevent fever with neutropenia. Subsequently, new data assessing the use of growth factors became available. To better evaluate the potential role of primary prophylaxis, the DSG determined that a separate analysis limited to elderly lymphoma patients assessing risk factors that predict for fever with neutropenia and treatment-related mortality would be helpful.

Article Selection

Citations were blinded for authors, journal name, institution, and results by one author. An assessment was made by two independent observers who scored each blinded citation as: "yes" (inclusion criteria were met, no exclusion criteria were met); "no" (one or more exclusion criteria were met); or "maybe" (unclear from citation if article meets any criteria). The full-length article was retrieved if the citation scored "yes" or "maybe" by at least one observer. Inclusion and exclusion criteria were applied again to the full article if necessary. Interobserver kappa coefficients (quadratic weighted) were calculated using PCAgree[©] (42) for the MEDLINE, CANCERLIT, and EMBASE databases, and an intraobserver coefficient was calculated from a random sample (random numbers table) of twenty MEDLINE citations for the citations assessing the role of chemotherapy. Acceptable kappa coefficients were 0.60 or greater (43). The citation lists for subsequent search updates were reviewed by one author using the same inclusion/exclusion criteria outlined previously.

Study Quality Assessment

Methodological assessment was performed using the published validated quality assessment tool of Jadad et al. for randomized controlled trials (44), but the score was not used to explicitly weight study results or to exclude studies from the analysis. This scale assigns one point if the study is randomized, one point if it is double-blinded, and another point if there is a complete description of withdrawals. An additional point each may be awarded if the randomization and the blinding were done appropriately. Studies may therefore score from zero to five points. It has been shown that studies scoring 2 points or less on this scale are more likely to produce treatment effects that are on average 35% larger than those produced by trials scoring 3 points or more (45). Randomized trials were also assessed based on whether the study population was explicitly defined, how baseline characteristics of the randomized groups compared, whether primary and secondary outcome measures and minimum important differences were stated, how the target sample size was projected (46), whether an intention-to-treat analysis was performed (47), whether randomization was concealed, whether co-interventions and endpoints were explicitly stated, and whether appropriate statistics were used.

Fully published articles are generally required in order to be most confident that the methodological assessment has identified the strengths and weaknesses of the trials. Most abstracts provide information of a more preliminary nature that may result in a lesser degree of confidence in making treatment recommendations. Subset analyses, while providing information of a hypothesis-generating nature, may be potentially misleading (48) and thus provide limited information for devising treatment recommendations. Therefore, conclusions about the use of chemotherapy and growth factors are most influenced by the full paper publications of primary studies.

Synthesizing the Evidence

Pooling trial results for both the chemotherapy and colony stimulating factor trials was considered but was not feasible. The nature of the chemotherapy regimens tested was very heterogeneous, making meaningful results from pooling impossible. Pooling of outcomes for studies assessing G-CSF was also considered but was not feasible because of the differences in outcome measurement assessed and the timing of assessment. Where p values were missing in individual

studies, the appropriate statistical test was done using the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (version 8.0, SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL) (49).

IV. RESULTS

Literature Search Results

Two hundred and eighty-nine publications were initially identified from MEDLINE, 106 publications from CANCERLIT, 376 from EMBASE and 52 from Current Contents for the chemotherapy question, up to 1999. No additional appropriate publications were found by searching the thesis database, Best Evidence, or the Cochrane Library. Six abstracts were found by hand searching. After removing duplicate citations and those dealing exclusively with Hodgkin's disease, myeloma, leukemia, or younger patients, a total of 385 blinded citations were assessed by two independent reviewers. This search was updated in 2001 and 2002. Including the updated searches, 23 publications (13 full papers, 10 abstracts) met the eligibility criteria for chemotherapy trials and were included. Two systematic reviews were also found (38;50), one of which represents a portion of this document published as a systematic review (38).

From the initial search for studies assessing the role of growth factors, 246 citations were found in EMBASE, 421 in MEDLINE, 130 citations in CANCERLIT, and 25 in Current Contents. No additional relevant publications were found by searching the thesis database, Best Evidence, or the Cochrane Library. Three abstracts were found by hand searching. Two independent reviewers assessed a total of 293 blinded citations. This search was also updated in 2001 and 2002. In the updated searches, five articles were reviewed for this section: two practice guidelines, one full-length paper, and two abstracts. Table 1 summarizes the reasons that publications were excluded based on the original searches. The search for risk factors for febrile neutropenia and treatment-related mortality resulted in 955 citations that were reviewed by one author.

Reason	Chemotherapy search	Colony stimulating factors search
Other diseases (myeloma, Hodgkin's, leukemia, etc.)	78	101
Other interventions	72	21
Wrong study design	56	40
Low grade, relapsed/refractory NHL	44	26
Transplantation/growth factor use (chemo search only)	75	78
No age subgroup analysis	56	44
Basic science	22	36
Patients too young	6	2
HIV	9	3
Published in full later	3	3
Review article	59	15
Total	480 ^a	394 ^a

Note: NHL=non-Hodgkin's lymphoma and HIV=human immunodeficiency virus.

^aduplicate studies already excluded; for literature search ending in 1999.

Agreement Statistics

The interobserver weighted kappa was 0.74 for the chemotherapy citations. The intraobserver weighted kappas for the random sample of 20 MEDLINE chemotherapy citations were 0.60 (reviewer 1) and 0.80 (reviewer 2). The interobserver weighted kappa was 0.82 for the colony stimulating factor citations. These represent adequate agreement coefficients (43).

Quality Assessment Scores

Of the 23 studies assessing the role of chemotherapy (Table 2), three scored 3 on the Jadad quality scale (11;22;51), ten scored 2 (4;5;7;12;16;18;52-55) and ten scored 1 (1;2;6;10;15;20;21;56-

58). The studies assessing the use of colony stimulating factors scored 2 points (23) and 1 point (57;59). One study assessing the role of rituximab scored 2 points (9).

Outcomes

Chemotherapy

A total of 23 publications (1-7;10-12;15;16;18;20-22;51-55;57;58) and two systematic reviews (38;50) were identified that addressed the chemotherapy guideline question. One systematic review (50) contained a section on elderly patients with lymphoma; however, it was not explicit about the individual studies included, and the majority of studies present in this practice guideline report were not identified or discussed. The other systematic review was the published chemotherapy review portion of this practice guideline report (38), which only included full paper publications of randomized trials and not abstract reports.

The studies testing various chemotherapy regimens fell into one of three general categories: (a) those comparing regimens that differed only in the type of anthracycline used; (b) those comparing different chemotherapy schedules; and (c) those comparing chemotherapy regimens that differed by other parameters (Table 2).

	Study Category	First author, year, (reference), type of publication		
Comparis	on of regimens that differ only in the anthracycline	Mainwaring, 2001 (16), full paper ^a Björkholm, 1999 (57), abstract ^a Aoki, 1998 (52), full paper Avilés, 1997 (5), full paper Cabanillas, 1997 (2), abstract ^a Sonneveld, 1995 (11), full paper Kitamura, 1994 (21), abstract ^a Delena, 1989 (4), subgroup analysis		
Comparis	on of regimens with different schedules	Pfreundschuh, 2001 (10), abstract ^{ab} Soubeyran, 1998 (7), abstract ^a Meyer, 1995 (53), full paper		
	CHOP versus other regimens	Pfreundschuh, 2001 (10), abstract ^{ab} Tilly, 2000 (1), abstract ^a Tirelli, 1998 (22), full paper Montserrat, 1996 (58), subgroup analysis Cooper, 1994 (51), subgroup analysis Gaynor, 1994 (54), abstract ^a Gordon, 1992 (55), subgroup analysis		
Other	Different regimens that do not include CHOP	Delwail, 2000 (6), abstract ^a Jelić, 1999 (3), full paper Bastion, 1997 (12), full paper Bellesi, 1996 (15), abstract ^a Silingardi, 1995 (18), subgroup analysis		
	Dose intensity of same regimen	Kitamura, 1998 (20), abstract ^a		

Table 2. Categories of randomized studies for chemotherapy question.

^anot included in the published systematic review (38). ^bappears twice in table.

(a) Comparison of regimens that differ only in the anthracycline

This category consists of eight studies: five full papers (4;5;11;16;52) and three abstracts (2;21;57). None of the studies were blinded, only one described the randomization method (11), and

none made any comments with respect to concealment. The full papers had complete descriptions of subject withdrawals, but the abstracts did not. The studies are summarized in Tables 3 and 4.

Mainwaring et al. (16) randomized 473 patients 60 years of age and older to a doxorubicin- (35 mg/m²) or a mitoxantrone-containing (7 mg/m²) weekly combination regimen (PAdriCEBO v. PMitCEBO). Up to 40 percent of patients had stage I or II disease, and 66 percent had a World Health Organization (WHO) performance status of less than 2. The overall response rate was superior in patients receiving the mitoxantrone-containing regimen (Table 4). Although no difference in RFS was detected, four-year OS was superior in patients randomized to the mitoxantrone-containing regimen (Table 4). A multivariate analysis of prognostic factors in this trial identified the chemotherapy regimen, age greater than 70, advanced stage, and poor performance status as significant factors for survival.

Björkholm et al. (57) reported on 455 patients aged 60 years of age and older randomized to CHOP or CNOP as part of a factorial design also involving G-CSF. Patients receiving CHOP had improved OS compared with those receiving CNOP (Table 4), but groups did not differ for complete response (CR) (Table 4).

Aoki et al. (52) randomized 37 patients to low doses of CHOP or to one of two pirarubicin-based regimens (THP-COP or THP-COPE). Seven patients (19%) were subsequently withdrawn due to ineligibility and protocol violations, and the analysis was based on the remaining 30 patients. The overall response rate was similar among patients receiving low dose CHOP, THP-COP, and THP-COPE (Table 4). There was no significant difference in two-year OS (Table 4; p value not stated).

Avilés et al. (5) randomized 169 patients to receive either CEOP-Bleo (epirubicin-based) or CIOP-Bleo (idarubicin-based) with escalating doses of the anthracycline. The group receiving the epirubicin-containing regimen had a superior CR rate (Table 4) and three-year OS (Table 4). There is a potential concern regarding patients who were excluded from the analysis if they experienced more than a two-week delay in chemotherapy administration. In addition, the study recorded no treatment-related mortality.

Sonneveld et al. (11) tested whether the substitution of doxorubicin in CHOP for mitoxantrone (CNOP) improved outcomes in 148 patients 60 years of age and older. Almost half of the patients were less than 70 years, and in contrast to other studies, some degree of cardiac dysfunction (left ventricular ejection fraction at least 40%) was permitted. Patients receiving CHOP had a higher CR rate (Table 4), a superior median OS (Table 4), and a superior three-year OS (Table 4). At three years, 17% of CHOP and 13% of CNOP patients were alive and disease-free (p=0.12). Patients receiving CHOP experienced significantly more alopecia (p<0.001), nausea (p=0.02), and vomiting (p=0.02).

The remaining studies (2;4;21) are summarized in Tables 3 and 4. Conclusions from these studies are limited due to lack of details reported in the papers.

Table	3.	Randomized	trials	comparing	chemotherapy	regimens	that	differ	only	in	the
anthra	сус	line: patients a	nd the	rapy.		_			-		

Study, type of		Pa	atient characte	eristics	Intervention		
publication and analysis	Age (y)	N	Stage	Pathology	Regimens ^a	Principle tested	
Mainwaring (16) Full, primary	≥60	473	IB-IV	DLC, IM, DM	PAdriCEBO v. PMitCEBO	substitution of doxorubicin for mitoxantrone	
Björkholm (57) Abstract, primary	≥60	229	II-IV	HG	CHOP v. CNOP	substitution of mitoxantrone for doxorubicin	
Aoki (52) Full, primary	≥65	37	I-IV	FMC, DSC, DM, DLC, DP	LD-CHOP v. THP-COP v. THP-COPE	substitution of doxorubicin for pirarubicin and the addition of etoposide	
Avilés (5) Full, primary	≥60	169	NS	DLC, SNCC, IM, ALCL	CEOP-B v. CIOP-B	substitution of epirubicin for idarubicin	

Cabanillas (2) Abstract, primary	>60	52	NS	MD Anderson tumor score ≥3	ASHAP-mBACOS-MINE v. ISHAP-mBICOS-MINE	substitution of doxorubicin for idarubicin
Sonneveld (11) Full, primary	≥60	148	II (bulky), III, IV	DM, DLC, IM	CHOP v. CNOP	substitution of mitoxantrone for doxorubicin
Kitamura (21) Abstract, primary	≥65	420	NS	NS	LD-CHOP v. THP-COP v. THP-COPE	substitution of doxorubicin for pirarubicin and the addition of etoposide
Delena (4) Full, subgroup	≥60	24	any bulky with B symptoms	IG or HG (WF)	CHOP-B v. CEOP-B	substitution of epirubicin for doxorubicin

Note: ALCL= Anaplastic large cell lymphoma, DLC=diffuse large cell, DM=diffuse mixed, DP=diffuse pleomorphic, DSC=diffuse small cell, FMC=follicular medium cell, HG=high-grade, IG=intermediate grade, IM=immunoblastic, LD=low dose, NS=not specified, SNCC=small noncleaved cell. v.=versus. WF=Working Formulation.

^aPlease refer to glossary for full names of chemotherapy regimens.

Table 4. Randomized trials comparing chemotherapy regimens that differ only in the anthracycline: results.

	Results ^a									
Study/Comparison	Response rate	Disease control	Overall Survival							
Mainwaring (16) PMitCEBO v. PAdriCEBO	CR 60% v. 52% (p=0.12) OR 78% v. 69% (p=0.05)	RFS 59% v. 38% (p=0.16)	OS (4y) 50% v. 28% (p=0.0067)							
Björkholm (57) CHOP v. CNOP	CR 59% v. 46% (p=0.08) ^b	NR	OS ^c (median) 38 m v. 13 m; (5y) 42% (95% CI 31-53%) v. 28% (95% CI 19-36%)							
Aoki (52) LD-CHOP v. THP- COP v. THP-COPE	OR 63.6% v. 80% v. 87.5% (p=0.3) ^b	NR	OS (2y) 18% v. 58% v. 48%							
Avilés (5) CEOP-B v. CIOP-B	CR 71% v. 48% (p=.003) ^b	NR	OS (3y) 72% v. 34% (p<0.01)							
Cabanillas (2) ASHAP-mBACOS- MINE v. ISHAP- mBICOS-MINE	CR 68% v. 54% (p=0.2)	FFS (3 y) 39% v. 27% (p=0.17)	OS (3y) 49% v. 35% (p=0.07)							
Sonneveld (11) CHOP v. CNOP	CR 49% v. 31% (p=0.03)	DFS (median) 27 m v. 15 m (p=0.43); (3y) 17% v. 13% (p=0.12)	OS (median) 26 m v. 12 m (p=0.029); (3y) 42% v. 26% (p=0.034)							
Kitamura (21) LD-CHOP v. THP- COP v. THP-COPE	CR 44.3% v. 45.1% v. 49.7% (p=ns)	NR	CR patients (median 3y follow-up) 42% v. 72% v. 59% (p=0.03 for CHOP v. THP based chemotherapy)							
Delena (4)	CR 50% v. 71% (p=0.4) ^b	NR	NR							

Note: CR=complete response, CI=confidence interval, DFS= disease-free survival, FFS=failure-free survival, LD=low dose, m=months, NR=not reported, ns=not significant, OR=overall response, OS=overall survival, RFS=relapse-free survival, v.=versus, y=years. ^aresults shown in same order as chemotherapy regimens presented.

^bChi-square p-value calculated from data reported. ^cHazard ratio 0.53, 95% CI 0.41 to 0.68; p<0.001.

Interpretive summary for this category

This category contains studies with varied results. All studies included patients who were free of important comorbid illness. Two large studies (11;57) showed a survival benefit of doxorubicin compared with mitoxantrone when given in CHOP. When doxorubicin was compared with mitoxantrone in a non-CHOP-like, multi-agent chemotherapy regimen that was administered on a weekly basis, there was a survival benefit for patients receiving the mitoxantrone-based regimen (16). This study contained a higher proportion of patients with limited stage (I and II) disease. The remaining studies examining epirubicin, pirarubicin and idarubicin-based regimens were limited due to: concerns about the reporting of patient withdrawals and the lack of treatment-related mortality data (5); small

numbers of patients; lack of an intention-to-treat analysis; use of less than standard doses of CHOP (52); lack of survival data (4); and reporting of subgroup analyses (2).

(b) Comparison of regimens with different schedules

This category contains three studies: one full paper (53) and two abstracts (7;10). The studies were not blinded and did not mention the method of randomization or concealment. The studies are summarized in Tables 5 and 6.

Table	5.	Randomized	trials	comparing	chemotherapy	regimens	with	different	schedules:
patien	ts ai	nd therapy.				-			

Study, type of			Patient charact	teristics	Intervention		
publication and analysis	Age N (y)		Stage	Pathology	Regimens ^a	Principle tested	
Pfreundschuh (10) Abstract, primary	>60	809	NS	NS	CHOP v. CHOP-14	G-CSF day 4- recovery	
Soubeyran (7) Abstract, primary	>65	37	NS	IG, HG (WF)	CEVOP-I v. CEVOP-II	weekly schedule fractionation	
Meyer (53) Full, primary	≥65	38	IB, IIA(bulky), IIB, III, IV	FLC, DSCC, DM, DLC, IM	CHOP v. chop⁵	weekly schedule fractionation	

Note: DLC=diffuse large cell, DM=diffuse mixed, DSCC=diffuse small cleaved cell, FLC=follicular large cell, HG=high-grade, IG=intermediate grade, IM=immunoblastic, NS=not specified, v.=versus, WF=Working Formulation.

^aPlease refer to glossary for full names of chemotherapy regimens.

^bConventional scheduled CHOP was compared with one-third dose administered weekly (chop).

Table 6.	Randomized	trials	comparing	chemotherapy	regimens	with	different	schedules:
results.								

0 (Results ^a					
Study/Comparison	Response rate	Disease control	Overall Survival			
Pfreundschuh (10) CHOP-14+G-CSF v. CHOP	CR 77% v. 63.2% (p=0.055) ^b	TTF (40 m) 53.4% v. 42.5% (p=0.03)	OS (40 m) 64.3% v. 49% (p=0.04)			
Soubeyran (7) CEVOP-I v. CEVOP-II	CR 65% v. 55.5% (p=0.8) ^c	NR	NR			
Meyer (53) CHOP v. chop	CR 68% v. 74% (p=0.9)	PFS (2 y) 57% v. 46% (p=0.16)	OS (2 y) 74% v. 51% (p=0.05)			

Note: CR=complete response, m=months, NR=not reported, OS=overall survival, PFS=progression-free survival, TTF=time-to-treatment failure, v.=versus, y=years.

^aresults shown in same order as chemotherapy regimens presented.

^bfor comparison across all groups.

°Chi-square p-value calculated from data reported.

Compression

Pfreundschuh et al. (10) reported results of a four-arm randomized trial evaluating patients 61 to 75 years of age with aggressive histology lymphoma and comparing CHOP administered either every 21 days or 14 days and CHOP plus etoposide (CHOEP) also administered every 21 days or 14 days. Patients receiving either 14-day regimen (i.e., CHOP-14 or CHOEP-14) also received G-CSF. The trial was to be analyzed using a factorial design in order to assess the effect of compressing the treatment schedule and the addition of etoposide. Because of an interaction between the addition of etoposide and schedule compression, in which patients receiving CHOEP every 14 days experienced excessive toxicity, the trial was instead analyzed as a four-armed comparison using a Cox model. With respect to

compressing the treatment schedule, a comparison of outcomes between the CHOP-21 and CHOP-14 groups detected that the CHOP-14 group had a superior 40-month TTF (Table 6) and OS (Table 6), with a trend for improved CR rate (Table 6).

Fractionation

The randomized phase II study by Soubeyran et al. (7) published in abstract form, compared standard and fractionated schedules of CEVOP. No difference was detected in achievement of a CR. The group receiving the fractionated schedule of chemotherapy received therapy of reduced dose intensity, had a higher frequency of treatment interruptions due to toxicity, and reported lower quality of life scores. Specific data were not provided.

A randomized phase II study by Meyer et al. (53) compared the conventional CHOP schedule with one-third doses administered weekly (chop) for the same intended dose-intensity. There were no differences in received dose intensities (primary outcome) when calculated by two different methods (53;60) or in the CR rate between CHOP and chop (Table 6). Although two-year progression-free survival (PFS) was similar between CHOP and chop (Table 6), the two-year OS was of borderline significance in favour of CHOP (Table 6). Apart from more leukopenia in patients randomized to CHOP, there were no statistically significant differences in important toxicities.

Interpretive summary for this category

No benefits from fractionating the treatment schedule have been detected; the potential for outcomes to be inferior is suggested. In a preliminary abstract publication reporting results of compressing the schedule of CHOP from 21 days to 14 days, improvements in disease control and survival are indicated (10). However, the interpretation of this study is limited by the complex statistical analysis and requires a full report in article form for complete assessment.

(c) Comparison of other chemotherapy regimens

This category includes thirteen studies: seven full papers (3;12;18;22;51;55;58) and six abstracts (1;6;10;15;20;54). None of the studies were blinded, only two described the method of randomization (22;51), and none described concealment. The seven full papers (3;12;18;22;51;55;58) and one abstract (54) contained adequate information on patient withdrawals, but this information was lacking in the other abstract reports (1;6;10;15;20). Seven studies compared CHOP with other regimens (1;10;22;51;54;55;58), five studies compared two other regimens (3;6;12;15;18), and one study compared different doses of the same regimen, with dose determined by age stratification (20). These studies are highlighted in Tables 7 and 8.

Of the seven trials comparing CHOP with another regimen, one (22) has been published in article form, three as subgroup analyses (51;55;58), and three in abstract form (1;10;54). A European Organization for the Research and Treatment of Cancer (EORTC) trial (22) randomized 120 patients 70 years of age and older to CHOP or VMP. Patients with a performance status of 2 or 3 were started at 75 percent of the standard chemotherapy dose. Patients who received CHOP had a higher overall response rate (Table 8), a borderline higher CR rate (Table 8), a longer median PFS (Table 8), a longer median OS (Table 8), and an improved four-year OS (Table 8). There was a trend toward more cardiovascular toxicity in patients receiving CHOP; they also experienced more alopecia and gastrointestinal and neurological toxicity.

None of the other publications in this category have reported a survival advantage for patients receiving a treatment that was compared with CHOP. A Group d'Etude des Lymphomes de l'Adulte trial (GELA) (1) randomized 708 patients aged 61-69 years to ACVBP or CHOP. No differences were detected in CR rate or three-year OS. There was an improvement in three-year event-free (Table 8) and disease-free survival (Table 8) in patients randomized to ACVBP. These benefits appear to be offset by an increased treatment-related mortality in patients receiving ACVBP (13% v. 7%; p<0.01). A study published in abstract form compared CHOP with CHOP plus etoposide (10) in patients greater than 60 years old. No differences were detected in response rate, TTF, or OS, and the authors

commented that the addition of etoposide was associated with significant toxicity. Four studies (51;54;55;58) compared CHOP with one or more "second or third generation" regimens. In each of these studies, no advantage favouring an experimental arm was detected in any outcome measure. Treatment with MACOP-B was associated with an inferior response rate in one study (51) and inferior OS in another (54).

Five studies (6;12;15;18;56) compared regimens that did not include CHOP, and one study examined dose intensities of the same regimen in older patients of different ages (20); two reports are in article form (12;56). Bastion et al. (12) randomized 453 patients at least 70 years of age to CTVP or CVP. Treatment with CVTP was associated with a superior CR rate (Table 8), median TTF (Table 8), five-year TTF (Table 8), and five-year OS (Table 8) and a lower rate of progressive disease (Table 8). Patients receiving CTVP experienced more alopecia and mucositis and had more frequent and prolonged hospitalizations. The remaining studies (6;15;18;20;56) are summarized in Tables 7 and 8; all contain insufficient information to influence guideline development.

Study, type of		F			Intervention		
publication and analysis	Age (y)	Ν	Stage	Pathology	Regimens ^a	Principle tested	
Pfreundschuh (10) Abstract, primary	>60	807	NS	NS	CHOP v. CHOEP	addition of etoposide to CHOP	
Tilly (1) Abstract, primary	61-69	708	≥1 adverse aa-IPI factor (26)	NS	CHOP v. ACVBP	CHOP v. more aggressive chemotherapy	
Tirelli (22) Full, primary	≥70	120	II, III, IV	IG, HG (WF) excluding SNCC, LL	CHOP v. VMP	standard v. presumed less toxic chemotherapy	
Montserrat (58) Full, subgroup	≥60	78	II, III, IV	FLC,DSCC, DM, DLC, IM	CHOP v. ProMACE- CytaBOM	CHOP v. third generation regimen	
Cooper (51) Full, subgroup	≥60	77	I (bulky), II, III, IV	FLC, DSCC, DM, DLC, IM	CHOP v. MACOP-B	CHOP v. third generation regimen	
Gaynor (54) ^b Abstract, subgroup	>60	360	II (bulky), III, IV	FLC, DSCC, DM, DLC, IM, SNCC	CHOP v. m-BACOD v. ProMACE- CytaBOM v. MACOP- B	CHOP v. higher generation regimens	
Gordon (55) Full, subgroup	≥60	167	III or IV	DM, DLC, IL	CHOP v. m-BACOD	CHOP v. second generation regimen	
Delwail (6) Abstract, primary	76-92	41	III-IV	HG	CVP v. CEP	intravenous v. oral regimen	
Jelić (3) Full, primary	>65	47	II-IV	DLC	BEP v. MEP	substitution of mitoxantrone for BCNU	
Bastion (12) Full, primary	≥70	453	l(bulky), II, III, IV	FLC, DSCC, DM, DLC, IM, SNCC	CTVP v. CVP	comparing the usefulness of the anthracycline	
Bellesi (15) Abstract, primary	≥65	74	NS	DLC, DM, IM, LL, SNCC	MICEP v. PVABEC	mitoxantrone v. doxorubicin based regimens	
Silingardi (18) Full, subgroup	>60	71	IB, II-IV	IG, HG	ProMECE-CytaBOM v. MACOP-B	comparison of third generation regimens	
Kitamura (20) Abstract, primary	≥70	316	NS	NS	LD T-COP v. SD T- COP SD T-COP v. HD T- COP	different doses of anthracycline	

Table 7. Randomized trials comparing other chemotherapy regimens: patients and therapy.

Note: DLC=diffuse large cell, DM=diffuse mixed, DSCC=diffuse small cleaved cell, FLC=follicular large cell, HD=high dose, HG=high-grade, IG=intermediate grade, IL=immunoblastic lymphoma, IM=immunoblastic, LD=low dose, LL= lymphoblastic lymphoma, NS=not specified, SD=standard dose, SNCC=small non-cleaved cell, v.=versus, WF=Working Formulation.

^aPlease refer to glossary for full names of chemotherapy regimens.

^bSome data was obtained from Fisher et al. (72).

	Results ^a					
Study/Comparison	Response rate	Disease control	Overall Survival			
Pfreundschuh (10) CHOP v. CHOEP	CR 63.2% v. 69.6% (p=0.055) ^b	NR	NR			
Tilly (1) CHOP v. ACVBP	CR 55% v. 55% (p=ns)	EFS (3y) 33% v. 45% (p=0.004) DFS (3y) 50% v. 69% (p=0.0003)	OS (3y) 44% v. 52% (p=0.09)			
Tirelli (22) CHOP v. VMP	CR 45% v. 27% (p=0.06) OR 77% v. 50% (p=0.01)	PFS (median) [°] 26m v. 8m (p=0.002)	OS (median) ^c 36m v. 13m (p=0.004); OS (4y) 42% v. 18% (p=0.004)			
Montserrat (58) CHOP v. ProMACE- CytaBOM	CR 56.5% v. 54% (p=0.9) ^d	NR	NR			
Cooper (51) CHOP v. MACOP-B	CR 67% v. 43% (p=0.04)	FFS 46% v. 45% (p=ns)	OS (4y) 48% v. 49% (p=ns)			
Gaynor (54) CHOP v. m-BACOD v. ProMACE- CytaBOM v. MACOP- B	NR	NR	OS (5y) 45% v. 39/41% v. 23% (p=.02) ^e			
Gordon (55) CHOP v. m-BACOD	CR 49% v. 62% (p=0.09) ^d	NR	NR			
Delwail (6) CVP v. CEP	CR 13% v. 50% (p=0.03)	NR	OS (median) 7 m v. 14 m (p=0.11) OS (2y) 25% (95% CI 6-44) v. 38% (95% CI 17-58)			
Jelić (3) BEP v. MEP	CR 30% v. 15% (p=0.68) Overall RR 59% v. 60% (p=0.95)	NR	OS (2y) 30% v. 50% (p=0.6)			
Bastion (12) CTVP v. CVP	CR 47% v. 32% (p=0.0001) PR, early death rates identical PD 21% v. 39% (p=0.0001)	TTF (median) 7m v. 5m (p<0.05); TTF (5y) 24% v. 14% (p<0.05)	OS (5y) 27% v. 19% (p<0.05)			
Bellesi (15) MiCEP v. PVABEC	CR 46% v. 33% (p =0.34) ^d OR 75% both groups	NR	NR			
Silingardi (18) ProMECE-CytaBOM v. MACOP-B	CR 52% v. 68% (p=0.21)	NR	NR			
Kitamura (20) LD T-COP v. SD T- COP SD T-COP v. HD T- COP	Overall CR 60% v. 46% (p<0.05) OR 86% v. 83% CR 53% v. 50% (p=ns) OR 79% v. 74% (p=ns)	NR	OS no difference OS Low dose > Standard dose (p=ns)			

Table 8. Randomized trials comparing other chemotherapy regimens: results.

Note: CR=complete response, CI=confidence interval, DFS= disease-free survival, EFS=event-free survival, FFS=failure-free survival, HD=high dose, LD=low dose, m=months, NR=not reported, ns=not significant, OR=overall response, OS=overall survival, PD=progressive disease, PFS=progression-free survival, PR=partial response, RR=response rate, SD=standard dose, TTF=time-to-treatment failure, v.=versus, y=years.

^aresults shown in same order as chemotherapy regimens presented.

^bfor comparison across all groups.

^cestimates taken from Kaplan-Meier plots.

^dChi-square p-value calculated from data reported.

^ecomparison of CHOP v. ProMACE-CytaBOM or m-BACOD v. MACOP-B (p-value across all groups).

Interpretive summary for this category

Except for one study (3), the studies in this category included patients who did not have any significant comorbid illnesses. In comparison with regimens presumed to be less toxic (e.g., VMP, CVP), anthracycline-containing regimens such as CHOP (22) or CTVP (12) were associated with improvements in OS in patients 70 years of age and older. Two studies (1;10) testing chemotherapy regimens that are more intensive than CHOP both detected an increase in toxicity with no survival benefit detected. Subset analyses comparing CHOP with "second and third generation" regimens (51;54;55;58) show that CHOP is at least as effective or less toxic than these other regimens. The remaining studies (6;15;18;20;56) in this category did not contribute additional information.

Monoclonal Antibodies

One study by GELA (9) evaluated the combination of chemotherapy and monoclonal antibodies. This study scored 2 on the Jadad quality scale, contained adequate information about patient withdrawals, but was not blinded and did not provide the details of the randomization process or concealment. In this trial (9) 399 patients ages 60-80 years were randomized to receive CHOP with or without rituximab 375 mg/m² on day 1 of each treatment cycle. Patients randomized to CHOP plus rituximab experienced an improved CR rate (76% v. 63%; p=0.005) and 2-year event-free (57% v. 38%; p<0.001) and overall survival (70% v. 57%; p=0.007). No differences in standardly measured treatment-related toxicity were detected; nine percent of patients receiving rituximab experienced grade 3 or 4 infusion-related toxicities.

Interpretive summary for this category

The administration of rituximab with CHOP improves the response rate and event-free and overall survival compared with CHOP alone and is well tolerated.

Colony Stimulating Factors

Two practice guidelines (34;36) and three RCTs (23;57;59) were identified, which address the growth factors guideline question. One practice guideline (34) has been updated (35;61).

Practice guidelines

Two practice guidelines (34-36;61) address the use of colony stimulating factors in patients receiving myelosuppressive chemotherapy. Based on the results of three randomized trials (62-64), the American Society of Clinical Oncology (ASCO) produced a guideline (34;35) suggesting that primary prophylaxis with colony stimulating factors may reduce the incidence of febrile neutropenia by 50 percent if the incidence of febrile neutropenia is greater than 40 percent in a control population (34). In conjunction with a decision analysis (65) that concludes that primary prophylaxis is cost-effective in this circumstance, the ASCO guideline recommends use of colony stimulating factors when the risk of febrile neutropenia is estimated to be greater than 40 percent. The decision analysis utilized data extracted from a randomized trial assessing primary prophylaxis in patients with small cell lung cancer (62) in which neutropenia was defined as a count of less than 1.0x10⁹/L and all patients with febrile neutropenia were treated with intravenous antibiotics in hospital; the perspective taken was that of the hospital-costs payer. The authors do not indicate whether the value of 40 percent applies to the risk to the patient over an entire treatment course or to an individual treatment cycle. The second guideline was published by the Cancer Care Ontario Systemic Treatment DSG (36) and suggests that G-CSF is a reasonable option if quality of life is expected to be improved by a reduction in the number or duration of febrile neutropenic episodes.

Randomized studies

Three randomized studies have evaluated primary prophylaxis with G-CSF in older patients with aggressive histology lymphoma (23;57;59); these trials are detailed in Tables 9 and 10. Two trials scored 2 (23;59) and the third scored 1 (57) on the quality scale. A full paper publication (23) and one abstract (59) contain information on patient withdrawals but not about the method of randomization or concealment. The other abstract (57) lacks details about withdrawals, randomization and concealment.

Study,	Patient characteristics			ristics	Intervention		
publication type and analysis	Age (y)	N	Stage	Pathology	Regimen ^a	Colony stimulating factor	
Doorduijn, 2000 (59), abstract,	≥65	408	II-IV	IG/HG	СНОР	G-CSF 300 μg sc day 2-11	

 Table 9. Trials of colony stimulating factors: patients and therapy.

primary							
Björkholm, (57), abs primary	1999 stract,	≥60	445	II-IV	HG	CHOP or CNOP	G-CSF (5 μg/kg/day) sc day 2-10 or 14 for all cycles
Zinzani, (23), Full p primary	1997 baper,	≥60	149	II-IV	DLC, IL, ALCL, PTL	VNCOP-B	G-CSF (5 μg/kg/day) sc day 3 for 5 days

Note: ALCL=anaplastic large cell, DLC=diffuse large cell, HG=high grade, IG-intermediate grade, IL=immunoblastic, PTL=peripheral T-cell, sc=subcutaneously, µg=micrograms, y=years.

^aPlease refer to glossary for full names of chemotherapy regimens.

Table Te. Thate of belony stimulating fasters. Tesate.								
Churcher	Results ^a							
(reference)	Chemo delivery	Response rates	Disease control	Survival	Toxicities			
Doorduijn, 2000 (59), abstract CHOP/G-CSF	Less delay	CR 53% v. 51% (p=ns)	DFS (3y) 47% v. 43% (p=ns)	OS (3y) 36% v. 40% (p=ns)	Fewer infections, fewer days with fever, fewer days on antibiotics 15.2 v. 8.5 d (p=0.011)			
Björkholm, 1999 (57), abstract CHOP or CNOP/G-CSF	NR	CR 52% v. 52% (p=ns)	NR	OS (5y) 54% v. 42%, 24% v. 28% (p=0.39)	Granulocytopenia (WHO grade 4) 62% v. 91% (p<0.001); infections during granulocytopenia requiring hospitalization 32% v. 47% of patients (p<0.001)			
Zinzani, 1997 (23), full paper VNCOP-B/G- CSF	NR	CR 60% v. 58% (p=ns) PR 23% v. 22% (p=ns) PD 10.5% v. 13%	RFS (30 m) 76% v. 72% (p=ns)	OS (30 m) 64% v. 62% (p=ns)	Neutrophils (<500/mm ³) 23% v. 55.5% (p=0.00005); clinically relevant infections 5% v. 21% (p=0.004)			

Table 10. Trials of colony stimulating factors: results.

Note: CR=complete response, d=day, DFS=disease-free survival, m=months, NR=not reported, OS=overall survival, PR=partial response, PD=progressive disease, ns=not significant, RFS=relapse-free survival, WHO=World Health Organization, v.=versus, y=years. ^athe order of results as follows: the chemotherapy regimen with colony stimulating factor versus the chemotherapy regimen alone.

Doorduijn et al. (59) randomized 408 patients 65 years of age and older to CHOP with and without G-CSF. No differences were detected in CR rate or three-year DFS or OS. Patients receiving G-CSF experienced fewer WHO grade II-IV infections (p=0.011) and required fewer days of antibiotics (Table 10). The percentage of treatment cycles associated with a WHO grade II-IV infection was 14 (134/949) in patients receiving CHOP alone and 10 (95/926) in patients receiving CHOP plus G-CSF (J.K. Doorduijn, personal communication). While this difference reached statistical significance (p=0.011), the absolute risk reduction of 4 percent corresponds to a number needed to treat (NNT) of 25 cycles in order to prevent one WHO grade II-IV infection. No difference in the percentage of patients experiencing a WHO grade II-IV infection was detected (53% treated with CHOP v. 46% treated with CHOP plus G-CSF; p=0.20). Quality of life was evaluated in this study using the European Quality of Life Questionnaire (EuroQoL), EORTC Quality of Life Questionnaire Core 30 (EORTC-QLQ-C30), and the Multidimensionele Vermoeidheids Index (MVI; a fatigue scale) questionnaires administered after the second, fourth and sixth cycle of treatment and at 3, 6, 10, and 18 months of follow-up (66). Out of the entire group, 162 patients were selected to participate in the quality of life analysis, and 132 agreed to do so, with a 90% questionnaire return rate. No differences in scores between randomized groups were detected.

Using a factorial design, Björkholm et al. (57) randomized 455 patients at least 60 years of age to CHOP or CNOP with and without G-CSF. No differences in CR rate or five-year OS were detected between patients receiving or not receiving G-CSF. Patients receiving G-CSF experienced less WHO grade 4 neutropenia (Table 10) and fewer infections during granulocytopenia (Table 10). Using these data, the patient NNT to prevent one infection during granulocytopenia was six.

Zinzani et al. (23) randomized 149 patients at least 60 years of age to VNCOP-B with or without G-CSF. No statistically significant differences were detected in CR rate (Table 10), partial response

rate (Table 10), relapse-free survival (RFS) at 30 months (Table 10), or OS at 30 months (Table 10). Patients randomized to G-CSF experienced less neutropenia (less than 0.5×10^9 /L; Table 10) and fewer clinically relevant infections (Table 10). Using these data, the patient NNT to prevent one clinically relevant infection was six. One-third of the patients in the control group who experienced an infection required parenteral antibiotics or hospitalization compared with none in the G-CSF group. The report does not comment on the rate of febrile neutropenia in the control group.

Risk factors for toxicity

The trials testing the role of growth factors failed to detect differences in disease control or survival but did show a reduction in the risk of infections. The Hematology DSG therefore concluded that the ability to make a recommendation regarding the role of primary prophylaxis with growth factors in older patients with aggressive histology lymphoma might be assisted by an evaluation of literature addressing factors that predict for an increased susceptibility to the toxic effects of therapy, including the risk of infection. An evaluation of these prognostic factors is complicated by the inclusion in some studies of an evaluation of factors that predict for other outcome measures, such as OS. Specific multivariable toxicity analyses from two randomized trials (11;12) were reviewed along with an additional six retrospective studies (67-72) dealing with risk factors for toxicity.

Two randomized trials evaluated factors associated with an inferior OS (11;12). In the trial comparing CHOP with CNOP (11), the early toxic death rate was 10 percent for patients receiving CHOP; a multivariate analysis of prognostic factors detected that treatment with CNOP, high lactate dehydrogenase (LDH), bulky disease, and poor performance status (ECOG greater than 1) were associated with a higher risk of death. In the trial comparing CTVP with CVP (12), the group receiving CVTP had a toxic death rate of 15 percent and 13 percent experienced a major infection following the first cycle of therapy; a multivariate analysis detected that advanced stage, performance status, LDH, and albumin were predictive for shorter survival.

Six studies (67-72) have retrospectively evaluated (70;71) factors that predict for treatment toxicity in patients with lymphoma. Only one of these reports was limited to older patients and included a multivariate analysis (67). Gomez et al. (67) evaluated 267 patients 60 years of age and older who received CHOP without growth factors; 53 percent of patients were older than 70 years, 52 percent had stage III or IV disease and 28 percent fell within the high-intermediate or high IPI risk groups. A toxic death was defined as a death occurring within six months of commencing treatment; 13 percent of patients suffered a toxic death with 83 percent of these secondary to infection. Sixty-five percent of the infection-related deaths were associated with neutropenia. A multivariate analysis detected that the only factor that independently predicted for a toxic death was an ECOG performance status of 2 or greater (relative risk 3.5; p=0.000001). Other factors assessed included age, histology, Ann Arbor stage, presence of extranodal disease or B symptoms, disease bulk, IPI risk category, LDH, and doxorubicin dose intensity.

Interpretive summary for this category

Three randomized trials (23;57;59) assessing primary prophylaxis with G-CSF have failed to detect a difference between groups in OS or any measure of treatment efficacy, such as initial response rate or duration of disease control. All three trials, however, did show a reduction in the frequency of severe neutropenia and in the risk of infection. Two studies (23;57) detected that the patient NNT to avoid having one patient experience an infection was six; another study (59) detected that the number of cycles needed to treat to avoid an episode of infection was 25. One study (66) reported quality of life outcomes and failed to detect a difference between randomized groups. Baseline ECOG performance status is the most powerful factor predicting for treatment-related toxicity that results in a toxic death.

V. ONGOING TRIALS

The Hematology DSG is aware of the following ongoing trials:

- 1. **CRC-TU-NH3003, EU-93028:** Phase III randomized study of CHOP versus MCOP (mitoxantrone) in patients aged 65 years and over with intermediate- or high-grade non-Hodgkin's lymphoma (NHL) (UK).
- HOVON-46NHL, HOVON-CKVO-2000-10, EU-20130: Phase III randomized study of CHOP and filgrastim (G-CSF) with or without rituximab in elderly patients with intermediate- or high-risk non-Hodgkin's lymphoma.
- MDA-DM-94017, NCI-T94-0040D: National Cancer Institute (NCI, USA) sponsored phase III randomized study of sequential treatment with three non-cross-resistant chemotherapy combinations or standard chemotherapy for poor-prognosis intermediate grade and immunoblastic NHL: IDA/CDDP/ARA-C/MePRDL, IDA/VCR/BLEO/CTX/MePRDL, and IFF/DHAD/VP-16 versus standard CHOP. This study will assess the feasibility of delivering full standard doses of chemotherapy to patients over 60 years of age who receive granulocyte-colony stimulating factor support (MD Anderson Cancer Center).
- 4. **E-4494, CLB-9792, SWOG-E4494:** NCI (USA) sponsored (ECOG, CALGB, SWOG) phase III study of CHOP versus CHOP and Rituximab in older patients with diffuse mixed, diffuse large and immunoblastic large cell histology non-Hodgkin's lymphoma.
- 5. **CWRU-4496, NCI-G97-1350, AMC-IC-93:** NCI (USA) sponsored phase II study of oral combination chemotherapy and granulocyte-colony stimulating factor in older patients (≥ 60 years) with intermediate- and high-grade non-Hodgkin's lymphoma.
- NCI-93-C-0133L, NCI-T93-0023N, NCI-MB-303, CRB-9307: NCI (USA) phase I/II study of doseintensive EPOCH with G-CSF in adults with previously untreated bulky stage I and stage II/III/IV aggressive non-Hodgkin's lymphoma.
- 7. The Sixty Plus Trial from the British National Lymphoma Investigation (http://www.bnli.ucl.ac.uk/uma/version1/clinicians_/60plus.htm) is a randomized phase III trial of PMitCEBO±G-CSF compared to CHOP±G-CSF in patients with bulky stage IA, stages IB-IV, newly diagnosed aggressive histology NHL (excluding Burkitt's, lymphoblastic). Patients 60 years old or greater with no significant comorbid diseases are eligible.
- Intergruppo Italiano Linfomi randomized phase III study in patients >65 years old of P-VEBEC v. mini-CEOP with G-CSF to be used at the discretion of treating physicians. Patients have advanced stage diffuse large cell lymphoma. Overall interim results have been mentioned in abstract form (73).
- 9. Italian randomized phase III trial of eight versus 12 week VNCOP-B with G-CSF in older patients with aggressive histology lymphoma (74).

VI. DISEASE SITE GROUP CONSENSUS PROCESS

The Hematology DSG considered the management of older patients with aggressive histology lymphoma to be an important topic for guideline development because of its incidence, the availability of evidence, and a perception that practice patterns varied outside a range suggested by this evidence. The Hematology DSG concluded that treatment of these patients is complex, with the decision-making process requiring knowledge of available evidence and with application of this evidence to each patient after evaluating their specific circumstances, including their preferences. Based on the results of randomized trials that have tested many chemotherapy regimens founded on different principles, the Hematology DSG concluded that it is possible to provide specific treatment recommendations for older patients who have no significant comorbid health problems or specific preferences that would reduce the priority of providing therapy that offers the best opportunity of durable disease control.

The first topic dealt with the optimum base chemotherapy regimen. The Hematology DSG concluded that CHOP should remain as standard therapy for these patients, just as it currently is for younger patients. The Hematology DSG concluded that age alone should not be the prime determinant for selecting the base chemotherapy regimen but that alternatives to CHOP should be reserved for patients of any age who have significant comorbid conditions or specific preferences. Physicians should be cautioned that many older patients might have significant comorbid illnesses or preferences that would make the use of CHOP inappropriate (75).

The second topic considered dealt with the addition of rituximab to CHOP. The GELA trial testing this agent (9) included patients ages 60 to 80 years with stage II-IV diffuse large B-cell lymphoma, an ECOG performance status of less than 2 and no contraindications to doxorubicin. The Hematology DSG concluded that the reported data were sufficiently strong enough to justify a recommendation stating that these patients should receive rituximab in combination with CHOP. The Hematology DSG also discussed whether this recommendation should be generalized to other patients such as those older than 80 years, with limited stage disease, receiving chemotherapy other than CHOP or receiving subsequent-line chemotherapy. The Hematology DSG concluded that patients older than 80 years who otherwise satisfy criteria for treatment with CHOP do not represent a specific prognostic entity and should, therefore, receive similar treatment to patients aged 60 to 80 years of age. The Hematology DSG concluded that current data are insufficient to support a recommendation to add rituximab to chemotherapy for patients with limited-stage or relapsed disease or for patients receiving chemotherapy other than CHOP.

The third topic considered dealt with the use of growth factors as part of primary therapy in combination with chemotherapy and rituximab. The Hematology DSG initially concluded that in the absence of trials detecting superior disease control, survival, or quality of life, current data were insufficient to support a recommendation to use growth factors as part of primary therapy. The Hematology DSG did conclude that secondary prophylaxis with G-CSF was appropriate and recommended for patients who have experienced a previous episode of neutropenic fever or a treatment delay resulting from prolonged neutropenia. This initial recommendation concerning primary therapy did not achieve unanimous approval from the Hematology DSG-some members regarded a reduction in the risk of infection as a sufficient outcome to justify using G-CSF as primary therapy for all patients. A minority of practitioners from across Ontario who reviewed the initial guideline (August 2000) also supported this position. With the availability of results from three randomized trials indicating that the absolute reduction in infections may be less than initially anticipated (55) and with a review of data that assists in predicting which patients are at greatest risk of life-threatening infections, the Hematology DSG reached consensus for a modified recommendation. The Hematology DSG now concludes that there are insufficient data to support a recommendation to routinely use growth factors as part of primary therapy but does support the primary use of growth factors for patients at high risk of developing life-threatening infections. These patients are best identified as those with a poor (ECOG greater than 1) performance status. The Hematology DSG also concluded that this recommendation should be expanded to include those patients who present with neutropenia or who have an active infection at the time that therapy is commenced. The recommendation for using growth factors as part of secondary prophylaxis was not altered.

VII. EXTERNAL REVIEW OF THE PRACTICE GUIDELINE REPORT

Draft Recommendations

Based on the evidence described above, the Hematology DSG drafted the following recommendations:

Target Population

These recommendations apply to patients older than age 60 who have newly diagnosed, advanced-stage, aggressive histology non-Hodgkin's lymphoma, an ECOG performance status of less than 4 and no significant comorbid illnesses.

Draft Recommendations

Key Recommendations

- Combination chemotherapy with cyclophosphamide, doxorubicin, vincristine and prednisone (CHOP) is recommended for patients with no apparent cardiac disease or significant comorbidity. Dose and schedule should be the same as that used in younger patients.
- The addition of rituximab to CHOP is recommended for patients with diffuse large B-cell lymphoma.
- There is insufficient evidence to support the routine use of granulocyte-colony stimulating factor as primary therapy.
 - While use of granulocyte-colony stimulating factor shortens the duration of neutropenia and decreases the infection rate in these patients, no differences in disease control or survival have been detected.
 - The primary use of granulocyte-colony stimulating factor is recommended for older patients who are at a particularly high risk of experiencing neutropenic fever. These patients are best identified as those with a poor performance status (ECOG 2 or greater), neutropenia prior to therapy or an ongoing infection; there are insufficient data to recommend the primary use of granulocyte-colony stimulating factor for patients whose sole risk factor is bone marrow involvement with lymphoma.
 - The use of granulocyte-colony stimulating factor as secondary prophylaxis is recommended for patients who have previously experienced an episode of neutropenic fever or a treatment delay resulting from persisting neutropenia.

Qualifying Statements

- Treatment decisions in older patients with aggressive histology lymphoma are complex and may be influenced by comorbidity, patient preferences, quality of life issues and the goals of the treatment program. These factors may alter recommendations for individual patients and require discussion between health care providers, patients and their families.
- Radiation therapy is not considered in this guideline and may be an important part of the treatment plan for these patients.

Related Guidelines

Practice Guidelines Initiative's Practice Guideline Report #12-2: Use of Granulocyte Colony-Stimulating Factor (G-CSF) in Patients Receiving Myelosuppressive Chemotherapy for the Treatment of Cancer and Evidence Summary Report #6-8: Rituximab in Lymphoma.

Practitioner Feedback

Based on the evidence and the draft recommendations presented above, feedback was sought from Ontario clinicians.

Methods

Practitioner feedback was obtained through a mailed survey of 110 practitioners in Ontario (49 medical oncologists, 30 hematologists, 21 pharmacists and 10 resident hematologists). The survey consisted of items evaluating the methods, results, and interpretive summary used to inform the draft recommendations and whether the draft recommendations above should be approved as a practice guideline. Written comments were invited. The practitioner feedback was mailed out on August 6, 2002 or October 28, 2002 for staff clinicians and October 10, 2002 for resident hematologists. Follow-

up reminders were sent at two weeks (post card) and four weeks (complete package mailed again). The Hematology DSG reviewed the results of the survey.

Results

Sixty-four responses (three residents and 61 staff clinicians) were received out of the 110 surveys sent (58% response rate). Responses include returned completed surveys as well as phone, fax, and email responses. Of the practitioners who responded, 53 (three residents and 50 staff clinicians) indicated that the report was relevant to their clinical practice and completed the survey. Key results of the practitioner feedback survey are summarized in Table 11.

Item		Number (%)			
	Strongly agree or agree	Neither agree nor disagree	Strongly disagree or disagree		
The rationale for developing a clinical practice guideline, as stated in the " <i>Choice of Topic</i> " section of the report, is clear.	51 (96%) ^a	2 (4%)	0		
There is a need for a clinical practice guideline on this topic.	52 (98%) ^a	1 (2%)	0		
The literature search is relevant and complete.	53 (100%) ^a	0	0		
The results of the trials described in the report are interpreted according to my understanding of the data.	50 (98%) ^b	1 (2%)	0		
The draft recommendations in this report are clear.	46 (88%) ^c	6 (12%) ^d	0		
I agree with the draft recommendations as stated.	46 (88%) ^a	5 (10%)	1 (2%)		
This report should be approved as a practice guideline.	46 (88%) ^a	5 (10%)	1 (2%)		
	Very likely or likely	Unsure	Not at all likely or unlikely		
If this report were to become a practice guideline, how likely would you be to make use of it in your own practice?	47 (90%) ^a	4 (8%)	1 (2%)		

Table 11. Practitioner responses to eight items on the practitioner feedback sur	Table 11.	Practitioner re	esponses to eight ite	ems on the practit	tioner feedback su	rvev
--	-----------	-----------------	-----------------------	--------------------	--------------------	------

^aThree responses were from residents (100% of residents' responses).

^bTwo responses were from residents (100% of residents' responses).

^cTwo responses were from residents (67% of residents' responses).

^dOne response was from a resident (33% of residents' responses).

Summary of Written Comments

Eighteen respondents (34%) provided written comments. The main points contained in the written comments were:

- 1. Three respondents felt that the conclusions about CHOP plus rituximab (CHOP-rituximab) were premature and required confirmation. One of these respondents felt that the use of CHOP-rituximab should be permissive rather than prescriptive since there are resource utilization issues with CHOP-rituximab.
- 2. One respondent asked why rituximab use with CHOP was limited to those 60 years of age and older.
- 3. One respondent felt that the data from the German trial (CHOP-14/21±etoposide) (10) were compelling and that the results were unlikely to change upon publication. The respondent felt that either these results should be incorporated into the conclusions of the guideline or that the guideline's conclusions should be delayed until full paper publication of this study.
- 4. One respondent commented on the poor quality of the data used to better define the risk factors for toxicity.

5. One respondent requested more guidance on the management of those patients with comorbid illness.

Modifications/Actions

- 1. The DSG felt that the survival advantage reported with CHOP-rituximab was statistically significant and clinically important, despite the short follow-up. Based on these results, the DSG felt that rituximab should be added to CHOP in this patient population. No changes were made to the recommendations.
- 2. The DSG has summarized this aspect in the DSG consensus section based on: the lower age limit in the randomized trial, the extension of the treatment principles of those aged 60 to 80 years to those above the age of 80, and the lack of evidence for benefit of CHOP-rituximab, thus far, in younger patients. No changes were made to the recommendations.
- 3. The DSG concluded that recommendations could be made regarding the use of CHOP- rituximab based on the results of one randomized trial (9) as this trial has been published in full article form and used an intention-to-treat analysis that included all patients. This analysis detected superior overall survival in the group randomized to receive CHOP-rituximab. In contrast, the German study (10) has been published only in abstract form and used a factorial design to assess two questions; the eventual analysis was performed using different methodology. Given this complexity, the DSG concluded that recommendations should not be made until results are published in article form. When published, the results will be incorporated into the guideline. No changes were made to the recommendations.
- 4. The DSG acknowledges the limited quality of the data available for the assessment of risk factors for toxicity in older patients with lymphoma. However, the DSG felt that the most reasonable interpretation of available evidence, in conjunction with clinical experience, was to recommend that "pre-existing infection" and "neutropenia at the time of commencing chemotherapy" should be included as two risk factors leading to a recommendation to use granulocyte-colony stimulating factor as primary prophylaxis. No changes were made to the recommendations.
- 5. No evidence exists to better guide therapy for those patients with comorbid illness.

Practice Guidelines Coordinating Committee Approval Process

The practice guideline report was circulated to members of the Practice Guidelines Coordinating Committee (PGCC) for review and approval at the May 2003 teleconference meeting. Twelve of 16 members of the PGCC attended the meeting, and all 12 approved the practice guideline report as written.

The PGCC felt that the guideline covered a lot of questions and the Hematology DSG did a great job handling the questions. One member questioned whether the level of detail was shortchanged given the number of questions and volume of evidence. Other comments included that the guideline was well written overall, the Interpretive Summary was succinct, and 90% practitioner feedback approval indicated great recommendations.

VIII. PRACTICE GUIDELINE

This practice guideline reflects the integration of the draft recommendations with feedback obtained from the external review process. It has been approved by the Hematology DSG and the Practice Guidelines Coordinating Committee.

Target Population

These recommendations apply to patients older than age 60 who have newly diagnosed, advanced-stage, aggressive histology non-Hodgkin's lymphoma, an ECOG performance status of less than 4, and no significant comorbid illnesses.

Recommendations

- Combination chemotherapy with cyclophosphamide, doxorubicin, vincristine and prednisone (CHOP) is recommended for patients with no apparent cardiac disease or significant comorbidity. Dose and schedule should be the same as that used in younger patients.
- The addition of rituximab to CHOP is recommended for patients with diffuse large B-cell lymphoma.
- There is insufficient evidence to support the routine use of granulocyte-colony stimulating factor as primary therapy.
 - While use of granulocyte-colony stimulating factor shortens the duration of neutropenia and decreases the infection rate in these patients, no differences in disease control or survival have been detected.
 - The primary use of granulocyte-colony stimulating factor is recommended for older patients who are at a particularly high risk of experiencing neutropenic fever. These patients are best identified as those with a poor performance status (ECOG 2 or greater), neutropenia prior to therapy, or an ongoing infection; there are insufficient data to recommend the primary use of granulocyte-colony stimulating factor for patients whose sole risk factor is bone marrow involvement with lymphoma.
 - The use of granulocyte-colony stimulating factor as secondary prophylaxis is recommended for patients who have previously experienced an episode of neutropenic fever or a treatment delay resulting from persisting neutropenia.

Qualifying Statements

- Treatment decisions in older patients with aggressive histology lymphoma are complex and may be influenced by comorbidity, patient preferences, quality of life issues, and the goals of the treatment program. These factors may alter recommendations for individual patients and require discussion between health care providers, patients and their families.
- Radiation therapy is not considered in this guideline and may be an important part of the treatment plan for these patients.

Related Guidelines

Practice Guidelines Initiative's Practice Guideline Report #12-2: Use of Granulocyte Colony-Stimulating Factor (G-CSF) in Patients Receiving Myelosuppressive Chemotherapy for the Treatment of Cancer and Evidence Summary Report #6-8: Rituximab in Lymphoma.

IX. JOURNAL REFERENCES

Kouroukis CT, Browman GP, Esmail R, Meyer RM. Chemotherapy for older patients with newly diagnosed, advanced-stage, aggressive-histology non-Hodgkin lymphoma: a systematic review. *Ann Intern Med* 2002;136(2):144-52.

X. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The Hematology Disease Site Group would like to thank Drs C.T. Kouroukis, G. Browman, K. Imrie, and R. Meyer and Ms. R. Esmail, Ms. J. Makarski, and Ms. A. Stevens for taking the lead in drafting and revising this practice guideline report.

For a complete list of the Hematology Disease Site Group members and the Practice Guidelines Coordinating Committee members, please visit our web site at http://www.ccopebc.ca/.

REFERENCES

- 1. Tilly H, Lepage E, Coiffier B, Blanc M, Herbrecht R, Bosly A, et al. A randomized comparison of ACVBP and CHOP in the treatment of advanced aggressive non-Hodgkin's lymphoma: the LNH93-5 study [abstract]. *Blood* 2000;96(11):832a. Abstract 3596.
- Cabanillas F, Romaguera J, Hagemeister FB, Younes A, McLaughlin P, Sarris A, et al. Randomized study of idarubicin (IDA) vs adriamycin (Adria)-based combination chemotherapy for aggressive poor prognosis (tumor score ≥3) non-Hodgkin's lymphomas (APPNHL) [abstract]. Blood 1997;90:248a. Abstract 1093.
- 3. Jelić S, Milanović N, Tomašević Z, Matković S. Comparison of two non-anthracycline-containing regimens for elderly patients with diffuse large-cell NHL; possible pitfalls in results reporting and interpretation [abstract]. *Br J Haematol* 1999;102:241. Abstract P-0962.
- 4. De Lena M, Maiello E, Lorusso V, Brandi M, Calabrese P, Romito S, et al. Comparison of CHOP-B vs. CEOP-B in 'poor prognosis' non-Hodgkin's lymphomas. A randomized trial. *Med Oncol & Tumor Pharmacother* 1989;6:163-9.
- 5. Avilés A, Jesus Nambo M, Talavera A, Garcia E, Huerta-Guzman J, Diaz Maqueo J. Epirubicin (CEOP-Bleo) versus idaurubicin (CIOP-Bleo) in the treatment of elderly patients with aggressive non-Hodgkin's lymphoma: dose escalation studies. *Anti-Cancer Drugs* 1997;8:937-42.
- Delwail V, Voillat L, Lacotte-Thierry L, Le Maignan C, Colombat P, Delaunay C, et al. Oral combination chemotherapy regimen for elderly patients with disseminated histologically aggressive non-Hodgkin's lymphoma (NHL): a randomized GOELAMS study [abstract]. *Blood* 2000;96(11):140a. Abstract 602.
- 7. Soubeyran P, Eghbali H, Ceccaldi J, Guichard P, Balzon JC, Cany L, et al. Randomized phase II trial of two schedules including cyclophosphamide (c), epirubicin (e), etoposide (v), vincristine (o) and prednisone (p) in intermediate and high grade non-Hodgkin's lymphoma (IHG NHL) in the elderly [abstract]. *Proc Am Soc Clin Oncol* 1998;17:38a. Abstract 149.
- 8. McKelvey EM, Gottlieb JA, Wilson HE, Haut A, Talley RW, Stephens R, et al. Hydroxyldaunomycin (Adriamycin) combination chemotherapy in malignant lymphoma. *Cancer* 1976;38:1484-93.
- 9. Coiffier B, Lepage E, Briere J, Herbrecht R, Tilly H, Bouabdallah R, et al. CHOP chemotherapy plus rituximab compared with CHOP alone in elderly patients with diffuse large-B-cell lymphoma. *N Engl J Med* 2002;346:235-42.
- Pfreundschuh M, Trümper L, Kloess M, Schmitz N, Schmits R, Glass B, et al. 2-weekly Chop (CHOP-14): the new standard regimen for patients with aggressive non-Hodgkin's lymphoma (NHL) >60 years of age [abstract]. *Blood* 2001;98(11):725a. Abstract 3027.
- 11. Sonneveld P, de Ridder M, Van Der Lelie H, Nieuwenhuis K, Schouten H, Mulder A, et al. Comparison of doxorubicin and mitoxantrone in the treatment of elderly patients with advanced diffuse non-Hodgkin's lymphoma using CHOP versus CNOP chemotherapy. *J Clin Oncol* 1995;13:2530-9.
- 12. Bastion Y, Blay J-Y, Divine M, Brice P, Bordessoule D, Sebban C, et al. Elderly patients with aggressive non-Hodgkin's lymphoma: disease presentation, response to treatment, and survival a Groupe d'Etude des Lymphomes de l'Adulte study on 453 patients older than 69 years. *J Clin Oncol* 1997;15:2945-53.
- 13. Klimo P, Connors JM. MACOP-B chemotherapy for the treatment of diffuse large-cell lymphoma. *Ann Int Med* 1985;102:596-602.
- 14. Skarin A, Canellos G, Rosenthal D, et al. Moderate dose m-BACOD. In: Skarin A, editor. Advances in cancer chemotherapy: update on treatment for diffuse large cell lymphoma. New York: Park Row; 1986:23-9.
- 15. Bellesi G, Rigacci L, Alterini R, Innocenti F, Bernardi F, Stefanacci S, et al. Randomized trial (MiCEP vs PVABEC) for the treatment of intermediate- high-grade non Hodgkin's lymphoma (NHL) in the elderly [abstract]. *Blood* 1996;88:190a. Abstract 3488.

- 16. Mainwaring PN, Cunningham D, Gregory W, Hoskin P, Hancock B, Norton AJ, et al. Mitoxantrone is superior to doxorubicin in a multiagent weekly regimen for patients older than 60 with high-grade lymphoma: results of a BNLI randomized trial of PAdriaCEBO versus PMitCEBO. *Blood* 2001;97:2991-7.
- 17. Longo DL, DeVita VTJ, Duffey PL, Wesley MN, Ihde DC, Hubbard SM, et al. Superiority of ProMACE-CytaBOM over ProMACE-MOPP in the treatment of advanced diffuse aggressive lymphoma: results of a prospective randomized trial [published erratum appears in *J Clin Oncol* 1991;9:710]. *J Clin Oncol* 1991;9:25-38.
- 18. Silingardi V, Federico M, Cavanna L, Avanzini P, Gobbi P, Lombardo M, et al. ProMECE-CytaBOM vs MACOP-B in advanced aggressive non-Hodgkin's lymphoma: long term results of a multicenter study of the Italian Lymphoma Study Group (GISL). *Leuk Lymphoma* 1995;17:313-20.
- 19. Bertini M, Freilone R, Vitolo U, Botto B, Ciotti R, Cinieri S, et al. The treatment of elderly patients with aggressive non-Hodgkin's lymphomas: feasibility and efficacy of an intensive multidrug regimen. *Leuk Lymphoma* 1996;22:483-93.
- 20. Kitamura K, Mori M, Masuda M, Hotta T, Miyazaki T, Miura R, et al. Comparison of high and low doses of T-COP regimens including a new anthracyclin pirarubicin (THP), in elderly patients with non-Hodgkin's lymphoma [abstract]. *Blood* 1998;92:622a. Abstract 2565.
- 21. Kitamura K, Mori M, Masuda M, Hotta T, Miyazaki T, Miura R, et al. Improved survival with THP-COP compared to CHOP for non-Hodgkin's lymphoma in the elderly; a Japanese cooperative study [abstract]. *Blood* 1994;84(10):164a. Abstract 640.
- 22. Tirelli U, Errante D, Van Glabbeke M, Teodorovic I, Kluin-Nelemans JC, Thomas J, et al. CHOP is the standard regimen in patients ≥ 70 years of age with intermediate-grade and high-grade non-Hodgkin's lymphoma: results of a randomized study of the European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer Lymphoma Cooperative Study Group. *J Clin Oncol* 1998;16:27-34.
- 23. Zinzani PL, Pavone E, Storti S, Moretti L, Fattori PP, Guardigni L, et al. Randomized trial with or without granulocyte colony-stimulating factor as adjunct to induction VNCOP-B treatment of elderly high-grade non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. *Blood* 1997;89:3974-3979.
- 24. Monfardini S, Yancik R. Cancer in the elderly: Meeting the challenge of an aging population. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 1993;85:532-8.
- 25. Carbone A, Volpe R, Gloghini A, Trovó M, Zagonel V, Tirelli U, et al. Non-Hodgkin's lymphoma in the elderly. I. Pathologic features at presentation. *Cancer* 1990;66:1991-1994.
- 26. The International Non-Hodgkin's Lymphoma Prognostic Factors Project. A predictive model for aggressive non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. *N Engl J Med* 1993;329:987-94.
- 27. Balducci L, Extermann M. Cancer chemotherapy in the older patient: what the medical oncologist needs to know. *Cancer* 1997;80:1317-22.
- 28. Sweetenham JW, Williams CJ. Malignant lymphoma in the elderly. *Baillière's Clin Haematol* 1987;1:493-511.
- 29. O'Reilly SE, Connors JM, Macpherson N, Klasa R, Hoskins P. Malignant lymphomas in the elderly. *Clin Geriatric Med* 1997;13:251-63.
- 30. Tirelli U, Zagonel V, Errante D, Fratino L, Monfardini S. Treatment of lymphoma in the elderly: an update. *Rays* 1997;22:24-9.
- 31. Greil R. Prognosis and management strategies of lymphatic neoplasias in the elderly. I. Aggressive non-Hodgkin's lymphomas. *Oncology* 1998;55:189-217.
- 32. Shipp MA, Ambinder RF, Appelbaum FR, Cabanillas F, Harris NJ, Herzig GP, et al. NCCN preliminary non-Hodgkin's lymphoma practice guidelines. *Oncology* 1997;11:281-346.
- 33. Martelli M, De Sanctis V, Avvisati G, Mandelli F. Current guidelines for the management of aggressive non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. *Drugs* 1997;53:957-72.
- 34. ASCO Ad Hoc Colony-Stimulating Factor Guideline Expert Panel. American Society of Clinical Oncology recommendations for the use of hematopoietic colony-stimulating factors: evidence-based, clinical practice guidelines. *J Clin Oncol* 1994;12:2471-508.

- 35. ASCO Health Services Research Committee. Update of recommendations for the use of hematopoietic colony-stimulating factors: evidence-based clinical practice guidelines. *J Clin Oncol* 1996;14:1957-60.
- 36. Rusthoven J, Bramwell V, Stephenson B, and the Provincial Systemic Treatment Disease Site Group. Use of granulocyte colony-stimulating factor (G-CSF) in patients receiving myelosuppressive chemotherapy for the treatment of cancer. *Cancer Prev Control* 1998;2:179-90.
- 37. Croockewit A, Bronchud M, Aapro M, Bargetzi M, Crown J, Gratwohl A, et al. A European perspective on haematopoietic growth factors in haemato-oncology: report of an expert meeting of the EORTC. *Eur J Cancer* 1997;33:1732-46.
- 38. Kouroukis CT, Browman GP, Esmail R, Meyer RM. Chemotherapy for older patients with newly diagnosed, advanced-stage, aggressive-histology non-Hodgkin lymphoma: a systematic review. *Ann Intern Med* 2002;136(2):144-52.
- 39. Browman GP, Levine MN, Mohide E, Hayward R, Pritchard K, Gafni A, et al. The practice guidelines development cycle: a conceptual tool for practice guidelines development and implementation. *J Clin Oncol* 1995;13:502-12.
- 40. UMI ProQuest® Digital Dissertations ProQuest Digital Dissertations. ProQuest Information and Learning web site. Available at: http://wwwlib.umi.com/dissertations/. Accessed on 18 December 2000.
- 41. The Non-Hodgkin's Lymphoma Pathologic Classification Project. National Cancer Institute sponsored study of classifications of non-Hodgkin's lymphomas summary and description of a Working Formulation for clinical usage. *Cancer* 1982;49:2112-35.
- 42. *PC-Agree* [computer program]. Version 2.5. Walter SD, Cook RJ. Hamilton, Ontario: Department of Clinical Epidemiology and Biostatistics, McMaster University; 1988.
- 43. Landis JR, Koch GG. The measurement of observer agreement for categorical data. *Biometrics* 1977;33:159-74.
- 44. Jadad A, Moore R, Carroll D, Jenkinson C, Reynolds J, Gavaghan D, et al. Assessing the quality of reports of randomized clinical trials: is blinding necessary? *Controlled Clin Trials* 1996;17:1-12.
- 45. Moher D, Pham B, Jones A, Cook D, Jadad A, Moher M, et al. Does quality of reports of randomized trials affect estimates of intervention efficacy reported in meta-analyses? *Lancet* 1998;352:609-13.
- 46. Moher D, Dulberg C, Wells G. Statistical power, sample size, and their reporting in randomized controlled trials. *JAMA* 1994;272:122-4.
- 47. Lee Y, Ellenberg J, Hirtz D, Nelson K. Analysis of clinical trials by treatment actually received: is it really an option? *Stat Med* 1991;10:1595-605.
- 48. Oxman A, Guyatt G. A consumer's guide to subgroup analyses. Ann Intern Med 1992; 116:78-84.
- 49. SPSS [computer program]. Version 8. Chicago, IL; 1998.
- 50. Kimby E, Brandt L, Nygren P, Glimelius B, for the SBU-group. A systematic overview of chemotherapy effects in aggressive non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. *Acta Oncol* 2001;40:198-212.
- 51. Cooper IA, Wolf M, Robertson T, Fox R, Matthews JP, Stone J, et al. Randomized comparison of MACOP-B with CHOP in patients with intermediate-grade non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. *J Clin Oncol* 1994;12:769-78.
- 52. Aoki S, Tsukada N, Nomoto N, Maruyama S, Takahashi M, Moriyama Y, et al. Effect of pirarubicin for elderly patients with malignant lymphoma. *J Exp Clin Cancer Res* 1998; 17:465-70.
- 53. Meyer RM, Browman GP, Samosh ML, Benger AM, Bryant-Lukosius D, Wilson WEC, et al. Randomized phase II comparison of standard CHOP with weekly CHOP in elderly patients with non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. *J Clin Oncol* 1995;13:2386-93.
- 54. Gaynor ER, Dahlberg S, Fisher RI. Factors affecting reduced survival of the elderly with intermediate and high grade lymphoma: an analysis of SWOG-8516 (INT 0067) The National High Priority Lymphoma Study a randomized comparison of CHOP vs m-BACOD vs ProMACE-CytaBOM vs MACOP-B [abstract]. *Proc Am Soc Clin Oncol* 1994;13:370. Abstract 1250.

- 55. Gordon LI, Harrington D, Andersen J, Colgan J, Glick J, Neiman R, et al. Comparison of a secondgeneration combination chemotherapeutic regimen (m- BACOD) with a standard regimen (CHOP) for advanced diffuse non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. *N Engl J Med* 1992;327:1342-9.
- 56. Jelić S, Milanović N, Tomašević Z, Matković S, Gavrilovic D. Comparison of two non-anthracyclinecontaining regimens for elderly patients with diffuse large-cell non Hodgkin's lymphoma - possible pitfalls in results reporting and interpretation. *Neoplasma* 1999;46:394-9.
- Björkholm M, Ösby E, Hagberg H, Kvalöy S, Teerenhovi L, Myhre J, et al. Randomized trial of rmetHu granulocyte colony-stimulating factor (G-CSF) as adjunct to CHOP or CNOP treatment of elderly patients with aggressive non-Hodgkin's lymphoma [abstract]. *Blood* 1999;94(10 Suppl 1):599a. Abstract 2665.
- Montserrat E, Garcia-Conde J, Viñolas N, López-Guillermo A, Hernández-Nieto L, Zubizarreta A, et al. CHOP vs. ProMACE-CytaBOM in the treatment of aggressive non-Hodgkin's lymphomas: longterm results of a multicenter randomized trial. *Eur J Haematol* 1996;57:377-83.
- 59. Doorduijn J, Van der Holt B, Van der Hem K, Van Imhoff G, Kramer M, Van Oers M, et al. Randomized trial of granulocyte-colony stimulating factor (G-CSF) added to CHOP in elderly patients with aggressive non-Hodgkin's lymphoma (NHL) [abstract]. *Blood* 2000; 96(11):133a. Abstract 575.
- 60. Hryniuk W. The importance of dose intensity in the outcome of chemotherapy. In: Hellman S, DeVita V, Rosenberg S, editors. Advances in oncology. Philadelphia, Pa: Lippincott; 1988:121-41.
- 61. Ozer H, Armitage JO, Bennett CL, Crawford J, Demetri GD, Pizzo PA, et al, for the American Society of Clinical Oncology Growth Factors Expert Panel. 2000 update of recommendations for the use of hematopoietic colony-stimulating factors: evidence-based, clinical practice guidelines. *J Clin Oncol* 2000;18:3558-85.
- 62. Crawford J, Ozer H, Stoller R, Johnson D, Lyman G, Tabbara I, et al. Reduction by granulocyte colony-stimulating factor of fever and neutropenia induced by chemotherapy in patients with small-cell lung cancer. *N Engl J Med* 1991;325:164-70.
- 63. Pettengell R, Gurney H, Radford JA, Deakin DP, James R, Wilkinson PM, et al. Granulocyte colony-stimulating factor to prevent dose-limiting neutropenia in non-Hodgkin's lymphoma: a randomized controlled trial. *Blood* 1992;80:1430-6.
- 64. Trillet-Lenoir V, Green J, Manegold C, Von Pawel J, Gatzemeier U, Lebeau B, et al. Recombinant granulocyte colony stimulating factor reduces the infectious complications of cytotoxic chemotherapy. *Eur J Cancer* 1993;29A(3):319-24.
- 65. Lyman GH, Lyman CG, Sanderson RA, Balducci L. Decision analysis of hematopoietic growth factor use in patients receiving cancer chemotherapy. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 1993;85:488-93.
- 66. Doorduyn JK, Buijt I, Uyl-de Groot CA, Van der Holt B, Sonneveld P. Quality of life (QOL) in elderly patients with aggressive non-Hodgkin's lymphoma (NHL) treated with CHOP [abstract]. *Blood* 2001;98(11):430a. Abstract 1803.
- 67. Gómez H, Hidalgo M, Casanova L, Colomer R, Pen D, Otero J, et al. Risk factors for treatmentrelated death in elderly patients with aggressive non-Hodgkin's lymphoma: results of a multivariate analysis. *J Clin Oncol* 1998;16:2065-9.
- 68. Gómez H, Mas L, Casanova L, Pen D, Santillana S, Valdivia S, et al. Elderly patients with aggressive non-Hodgkin's lymphoma treated with CHOP chemotherapy plus granulocytemacrophage colony-stimulating factor: identification of two age subgroups with differing hematologic toxicity. *J Clin Oncol* 1998;16:2352-8.
- 69. Kitay-Cohen Y, Lishner M, Shelef A, Ravid M, Manor Y. Bone marrow involvement, in intensively treated patients with intermediate grade non-Hodgkin's lymphoma, is a risk factor for granulocytopenia and fever. *Leuk Lymphoma* 1996;20:333-6.
- 70. Intragumtornchai T, Sutheesophon J, Sutcharitchan P, Swasdikul D. A predictive model for lifethreatening neutropenia and febrile neutropenia after the first course of CHOP chemotherapy in patients with aggressive non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. *Leuk Lymphoma* 2000;37:351-60.

- 71. Epelbaum R, Haim N, Leviov M, Ben-Shahar M, Ben-Arie Y, Dror Y, et al. Full dose CHOP chemotherapy in elderly patients with non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. *Acta Oncol* 1995;34:87-91.
- 72. Campbell C, Sawka C, Franssen E, Berinstein NL. Delivery of full dose CHOP chemotherapy to elderly patients with aggressive non-Hodgkin's lymphoma without G-CSF support. *Leuk Lymphoma* 1999;35:119-27.
- 73. Bertini M, Merli F, Perego D, Cabras M, Liberati M, Vitolo U, et al. Evaluation of efficacy, tolerability and QOL of P-VEBEC vs Mini-CEOP, two schedules specifically devised for elderly patients affected by diffuse large cell lymphoma: preliminary results of a randomized trial [abstract]. *Proc Am Soc Clin Oncol* 2000;19:40a. Abstract 154.
- 74. Zinzani PL, Storti S, Zaccaria A, Moretti L, Magagnoli M, Pavone E, et al. Elderly aggressivehistology non-Hodgkin's lymphomas: first line VNCOP-B regimen experience on 350 patients. *Blood* 1999;94:33-8.
- 75. Chen CI, Skingley P, Meyer RM. A comparison of elderly patients with aggressive histology lymphoma who were entered or not entered on to a randomized phase II trial. *Leuk Lymphoma* 2000;38:327-34.

Section 2: Evidentiary Base

APPENDIX I

MEDLINE (1966 to April 1999), CANCERLIT (1983 to February 1999), EMBASE (1980 to January 1999), Current Contents (1993 to May 1999), the Cochrane Library (Issue 2, 1999), and Best Evidence (1991 to August 1999) databases were searched without language restriction. This search was updated in April 2000. The following terms were used for MEDLINE and CANCERLIT: "lymphoma, non-Hodgkin" (MESH, text word), "lymphoma" (text word) combined with "aged" (text word) or "older" (text word) combined with "chemo:" (text word). These terms were then combined with search terms: "practice guidelines" (MESH, text word) or "practice guideline?" (text word) or "guideline?" (text word) or "systematic review?" (text word) or "systematic overview?" (text word) or "meta-analysis" (MESH, text word) or "systematic overview?" (text word); "random:" (text word) or "random allocation" (MESH, text word). The CANCERLIT search was limited to non-MEDLINE entries. The following headings were used for EMBASE: "lymphoma" or "non-hodgkin lymphoma"; "age" or "old" or "older"; "chemo*"; "practice guideline?" or "guideline*"; "meta-analysis" or "meta-analysis" or "meta analy" or "systematic review?" or "systematic overview?"; "random*" or "random allocation?". The Cochrane Library, Current Contents, and Best Evidence were searched using the following terms: "lymphoma" and "older" and "chemotherapy".

The search strategy for the growth factors question used the following terms for MEDLINE and CANCERLIT (limited to non-MEDLINE entries): "lymphoma" (MESH, text word) or "lymphoma, non-hodgkin" (MESH, text word) and "age?" (text word) or "elder:" (text word) or "old:". These terms were then combined with the following terms: "growth factor?" (text word) or "granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor" (MESH) or "granulocyte colony-stimulating factor" (MESH) and "review?" or "overview" or "guide:". The following terms were used for EMBASE: "lymphoma" and "older" or "aged" and "granulocyte colony stimulating factor" or "granulocyte macrophage colony stimulating factor". Searches of the Cochrane Library, Current Contents, and Best Evidence were performed using the following terms: "lymphoma" and "older" and "colony stimulating factor". The paucity of randomized trials assessing the role of colony stimulating factors in the elderly led to a broadening of the inclusion criteria to include non-randomized studies.

Section 2: Evidentiary Base

Page 33



Evidence-based Series #6-7 Version 2: Section 3

A Quality Initiative of the Program in Evidence-Based Care (PEBC), Cancer Care Ontario

The Use of Chemotherapy and Growth Factors in Older Patients with Newly Diagnosed, Advanced-Stage, Aggressive Histology Non-Hodgkin's Lymphoma

T. Kouroukis, N. Ismaila, and the Hematology Cancer Disease Site Group

Review Date: May 24, 2013

The 2003 guideline recommendations are

ENDORSED

This means that the recommendations are still current and relevant for decision making.

OVERVIEW

The original version of this guidance document was released by Cancer Care Ontario's Program in Evidence-based Care in 2003. In September 2011, this document was assessed in accordance with the PEBC Document Assessment and Review Protocol and was determined to require a review. As part of the review, a PEBC methodologist conducted an updated search of the literature. A clinical expert reviewed and interpreted the new eligible evidence and proposed the existing recommendations could be endorsed. The Hematology Cancer Disease Site Group (DSG), endorsed the recommendations found in Section 1 (Clinical Practice Guideline) in May 24, 2013.

DOCUMENT ASSESSMENT AND REVIEW RESULTS

Question Considered

- 1. What treatment provides the optimum disease control and survival in older patients (at least 60 years of age) with newly diagnosed, advanced-stage, aggressive histology lymphoma?
- 2. What are the toxicities associated with these treatments?

3. What are the roles of granulocyte-colony stimulating factor or granulocyte macrophage-colony stimulating factor in combination with chemotherapy in these patients?

Literature Search and New Evidence

The new search from October 2001 to January 2013 yielded 19 references representing 17 RCTs (2 RCTs had 2 publications each), evaluating the use of chemotherapy and growth factors in older patients with newly diagnosed, advanced-stage, aggressive histology non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. Sixteen of these references had full text publications and 3 were in abstract form. There were 3 ongoing studies identified from clinicaltrials.gov. Brief results of these searches are shown in the Document Review Tool.

Impact on Guidelines and Its Recommendations

The new data supports existing recommendations. Hence, the Hematology Cancer DSG ENDORSED the 2003 recommendations on the use of chemotherapy and growth factors in older patients with newly diagnosed, advanced-stage, aggressive histology non-Hodgkin's lymphoma.

Document Review Tool

	6-7 The Use of Chemotherapy and Growth Factors in Older
Number and title of document	Patients with Newly Diagnosed, Advanced-Stage, Aggressive
under review	Histology Non-Hodgkin's Lymphoma
Current Report Date	June 2003
Clinical Expert	Dr. Tom Kouroukis
Research Coordinator	Nofisat Ismaila
Assessment Date	1 September 2011
Approval Date and Review	
Outcome (once completed)	ENDORSED (24 may, 2013)

Original Question(s):

- 4. What treatment provides the optimum disease control and survival in older patients (at least 60 years of age) with newly diagnosed, advanced-stage, aggressive histology lymphoma?
- 5. What are the toxicities associated with these treatments?
- 6. What are the roles of granulocyte-colony stimulating factor or granulocyte macrophage-colony stimulating factor in combination with chemotherapy in these patients?

Target Population:

Patients older than age 60 who have newly diagnosed, advanced-stage, aggressive histology non-Hodgkin's lymphoma, an Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group (ECOG) performance status of less than 4 and no significant comorbid illnesses

Study Section Criteria:

Inclusion Criteria

- 1. Fully published reports or published abstracts of randomized controlled trials (RCTs) involving newly diagnosed patients with aggressive histology [intermediate- and high-grade, Working 2 Formulation] lymphoma who were 60 years of age and older.
- 2. To assess the role of chemotherapy, RCTs must compare at least two chemotherapy regimens.
- 3. To assess the role of colony stimulating factors, RCTs comparing the use of G-CSF or GM-CSF with a control group were sought.
- 4. Randomized studies assessing the use of monoclonal antibodies (e.g., rituximab) were eligible.
- 5. Subgroup analyses based on age or histology were eligible.
- 6. The outcome measures of interest included at least one of the following: overall survival (OS), disease-free (DFS) or failure-free survival (FFS), time-to-treatment failure (TTF), relapse-free survival (RFS), response rate, toxicity, or quality of life measures.

Exclusion Criteria

Studies were excluded if:

- 1. Patients included had indolent lymphoma, refractory or relapsed lymphoma, human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) related lymphoma, Hodgkin's disease, multiple myeloma, or other hematological malignancies;
- 2. Transplantation, maintenance chemotherapy, or interferon were used as interventions; or
- 3. Radiation therapy was used unevenly in experimental and control groups.
- 4. Studies assessing the role of chemotherapy were excluded if they incorporated growth factors as part of the primary therapy in all randomized groups.
- 5. Letters and editorials were not considered.

Search Details:

- October 2001 to January 2013 (Medline January wk 3 and Embase wk 4)
- January 2009 to March 2013 (ASCO Annual Meeting)
- October 2001 to March 2013 (clinicaltrials.gov)

Brief Summary/Discussion of New Evidence:

Of 1587 total hits from Medline and Embase + 35 total hits from ASCO + 75 total hits from clinicaltrials.gov, 19 references representing 17 RCTs (2 RCTs had 2 publications each), were found evaluating the use of chemotherapy and growth factors in older patients with newly diagnosed, advanced-stage, aggressive histology non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. Sixteen of these references had full text publications and 3 were in abstract form. There were 3 ongoing studies identified from clinicaltrials.gov.

			Randomized Co	ontrol Trials	
Interventions R-CHOP Vs. R-FC	Population Patients with newly diagnosed, histologically confirmed mantle- cell lymphoma, Ann Arbor stage II to IV; ECOG performance status of 2 or less Median age, 70yrs n=560	Follow up Median, 37 months	Randomized Co Outcomes P: Rate of complete remission S: Overall response rate, the time to treatment failure, overall survival, and toxic effects	Brief results Refer • Although complete-remission rates were similar with R-FC and R-CHOP (40% and 34%, respectively; P = 0.10), progressive disease was more frequent with R-FC (14%, vs. 5% with R-CHOP). Kluin-Ne et al 20 • Overall survival was significantly shorter with R-FC than with R-CHOP (4-year survival rate, 47% vs. 62%; P = 0.005), and more patients in the R-FC group died during the first remission (10% vs. 4%). Hematologic toxic effects occurred more frequently in the R-FC group than in the R-CHOP group, but the frequency of grade 3 or 4 infections was balanced (17% and 14%, respectively).	en ces lemans 2
CHOP Vs. R-CHOP	Patients with untreated DLBCL stage II to IV; ECOG performance status of 2 or less Median age, 69yrs n=399	Total, 10 years	OS and RS	 252 patients died, 140 (71.1%) in the CHOP arm and 112 (55.4%) in the R-CHOP arm. The 10-year OS rate for all patients was 35% and the 10-year RS rate was 48%. The difference between the respective effects of R-CHOP and CHOP on 10-year RS was also significant (56% vs. 38%; P=.0013. Neither age nor sex had any effect on OS or RS. The causes of death in the CHOP and R-CHOP arms were lymphoma progression (68% and 56%, respectively), treatment toxicity (11% and 13%, respectively; only 2% of the deaths in each arm were due to infection), cancer other than DLBCL (9% in both arms), other diseases (11% and 21%, respectively) and unknown causes (1 patient and 3 patients, respectively). Most of the other diseases were cardiovascular (10 cases [66%] in the CHOP arm). 	et al d et al ELA 5 trial)
R-CHOP Vs. R-miniCEOP	Patients with untreated DLBCL stage II to IV; ECOG performance status of	Median, 42 months	P: EFS S: RR,OS, RFS and Toxicity	 The rate of complete remission was 70% (p = 0.466). 5-year EFS rates were 46% and 48% for R- 	al 2012 ER3

	0.3			miniCEOP and P. CHOP, respectively (n -	
	0-3 Median age, 72yrs n=224	Modian 27		 miniCEOP and R-CHOP, respectively (p = 0.538). Patients older than 72 years and with low-risk disease had a better outcome when treated with R-miniCEOP (p = 0.011). Overall, 76 patients died: 38 in the R-CHOP arm and 38 in the R-miniCEOP arm. Causes of death were equally distributed between study arms, with the exception of a trend toward a higher number of deaths for lymphoma relapse/progression in the R-miniCEOP group (47% vs. 66% of all deaths, respectively; p = 0.165) The most frequent event was neutropenia, without differences in the rate of grade III - IV events between the two arms (23%). 	ngh m et
	untreated DLBCL	months	Toxicity	Reported grade III/IV toxicities in the K- CHOP21 and R-CHOP14 arms are; neutropenia	19 & 2011
vs.	stage II to IV Median age, 61yrs			57%:31%, thrombocytopenia 5%:9%, Infection	ract)
R-CHOP21	n=1080			22%:17%, cardiac 1%:2%, nausea and vomiting	
				8%:8%, mucositis 2%:3%.	
				• A total of 237 deaths and 318 progressions/	
		7		relapses/deaths were observed.	
				Comparison of Kaplan-Meier curves gave a	
				hazard ratio (HR) of 0.96 and p=0.75 for OS	
				and HR=1.0 and p=0.98 for progression-free	
				SUIVIVAL (PPS)	
R-CHOP14	Patients with untreated DLBCL	NR	RR, OS, EFS, PFS, Toxicity	Ninety percent of patients treated with R- CHOP14 received C_CCT_with areas are (200)	ue et al (LNH03-6B
Vs.	and aalPl≥1 Median age, 72vrs			R-CHOP21 group. GELA	Study - act)
R-CHOP21	n=202				
				Kesponse rate (CR+CRU) was 67% in R- CHOP14 arm and 75% in R-CHOP21 arm	
				(p=NS).	
				• The 2-year EFS was 48% in R-CHOP14 arm	
				compared with 61% in R-CHOP21 (p=NS).	
				A similar trend was observed for 2-year PFS	
				(49% vs 63%), 2-year DFS (57% vs 70%) and 2-	
				year OS (67% vs 70%) (p=NS for all).	
				Grade 3-4 hematological toxicity was more	
				frequent in R-CHOP14 group, with a higher	

				proportion of patients receiving red cell or
				platelet transfusions and/or experiencing
				febrile neutropenia, resulting in higher
				proportion of patients hospitalized for
				adverse events. In contrast, there was no
				difference for extra-hematological grade 3-4
				tovicities
				toxicities.
6 x CHOP	Patients	Median, 34.5	P: EFS	• 3-year event-free survival was 47.2% after six Pfreundschuh
Vs	previously	months	S' RR OS	cycles of CHOP-14 (95% CI 41·2-53·3), 53·0% et al 2008
	biopsy-confirmed		PFS and	(47·0-59·1) after eight cycles of CHOP-14, trial)
8 x CHOP	aggressive non-		Toxicity	66·5% (60·9-72·0) after six cycles of R-CHOP-
Vs.	lymphoma of			14, and 63·1% (57·4-68·8) after eight cycles
	the B-cell type			of R-CHOP-14.
6 X R-CHUP	n=1222			
Vs.				Compared with treatment with six cycles of
8 x R-CHOP				CHOP-14, overall survival improved by -1.7%
				(-10·0-6·6) after eight cycles of CHOP-14,
				10-4% (2-8-18-0) after six cycles of R-CHOP-
				14, and 4.8% (-3.1-12.7) after eight cycles of
				R-CHOP-14.
				a la a multivariate applyrig that used six system
				• In a multivariate analysis that used six cycles
				of CHOP-14 without fituximab as the
				reference, and adjusting for known
			\sim	prognostic factors, all three intensified
		1		regimens improved 3-year EFS (eight cycles
				of CHOP-14: RR [relative risk] 0·76 [0·60-
				0·95], p=0·0172; six cycles of R-CHOP-14: RR
				0·51 [0·40-0·65], p<0·0001; eight cycles of R-
				CHOP-14: RR 0·54 [0·43-0·69], p<0·0001).
				Progression-free survival improved after six
				cycles of R-CHOP-14 (RR 0.50 [0.38-0.67]
				$p_{c}(0,0001)$ and eight cycles of $R_{c}(HOP-14)$ (RR
				0.59 [0.45-0.77] p=0.0001)
				0 57 [0 45 0 77], p=0 0001).
				OS improved only after six cycles of R-CHOP-
	\mathbf{O}			14 (RR 0·63 [0·46-0·85], p=0·0031).
CHOP +	Patients with	Median 7	P. FES	FES and OS did not differ between the two Ronnet et al
Radiotherapy	localized stage I	years		treatment groups (P= 6 and P= 5
Ve	or II histologically		S: RR,OS,	reconstituciu)
vs.	lymphoma		and toxicity	respectively).
CHOP alone	Median age, 68yrs			The 5-year estimates of EFS were 61% for
	N=5/6			patients receiving chemotherapy alone and
				64% for patients receiving CHOP plus
				radiotherapy
				The 5-year estimates of OS were 72% and

				68%, respectively.		
				In a multivariate analysis. OS was affected by		
				stage II disease (P < .001) and male sex (P =		
				.03).		
Mini-CEOP	Patients newly	Median, 72	OS, Response	Complete Response (CR) and Overall	Merli et al	2007
Vs.	histologically	months	of life	Response Rates (ORR) were 54% vs 66%		
P-VFBFC	confirmed DLBCL			(p=0.107) and 90% vs 78% (p=0.021) for P-		
I VEDEC	classification,			VEBEC and Mini-CEOP, respectively.		
	stage II to IV; ECOG			• The 5-year OS, Relapse Free Survival (RFS),		
	performance			and Failure Free Survival (FFS) were 32%,		
	Median age, 73yrs			52%, and 21%, respectively.		
	n=232			Subjects achieving a CP showed improvement		
				• Subjects achieving a CR showed improvement		
				of QOL regardless of treatment ann.		
СНОР	Patients with	Median, 44	P: FFS	Overall response rate was 84% in the CHOP	Burton et	al,
Vs.	untreated, bulky	months	S: RR,OS,PFS	arm and 83% in the PMitCEBO arm, with	2006	
DWitCEBO	stage IA or stages		and Toxicity	overall response rates of 83% for the use of		
PMILCEBO	NHL			G-CSF and 84% for no G-CSF.		
Vs.	Median age, 70yrs n=784			There was no significant difference in		
CHOP + GCSF				failure-free, progression-free or overall		
Vs.				survival between the CHOP and PMitCEBO		
PMitCEBO + GCSE				arms.		
PMILCEDO P GCSI				• At 3 years, the actuarial EFS was 44% in CHOP		
		7		recipients and 42% in PMitCEBO recipients		
				and the 3-year actuarial OS was 46% and 45%		
				respectively.		
				Ihere was no significant difference in the		
				failure-free, progression-free or overall		
				survival with the addition of G-CS.		
THP-COP	Patients with	Total, 8	CR, OS and	• The complete remission rates for the THP-	Mori et al	2005
Vs.	previously untreated NHL,	years	toxicity	COP, CHOP, and THP-COPE groups were		
CHOP	disease stage I to			42.5%, 41.4%, and 48.0%, respectively.		
СНОР	status of 0 to 3			• There was no difference in OS or PFS among		
Vs.	Median age, 74yrs			these 3 groups.		
THP-COPE	11-445					
				In aggressive lymphoma, there was also no		
				difference in CR rate (45.3% in THP-COP,		
				44.9% in CHOP, 48.0% in THP-COPE), OS and		
				Pr5 among these groups.		
				• The 5- and 8-year survival rates for all		
				patients were 29.4% and 18.7%, respectively.		
				• The 5- and 8-year survival rates for patients		

				 with aggressive lymphoma were 27.4% and 17.4%, respectively. In patients with T-cell-type lymphoma, the CR rate was greater after treatment with THP-COP (51.4%) or THP-COPE (57.7%) compared to treatment with CHOP (19.4%). 	
MEMID Vs. CEOP	Patients with previously untreated aggressive NHL, Stage II or > Median age, 72yrs n=149	Total, 5 years	P: OS S: RR,EFS and Toxicity	 Neutropenia (p<10⁻⁵), anemia (p< 10⁻⁵) and thrombocytopenia (p = 0.0006) were significantly more frequent in patients who received MEMID. Objective response rate was 55.5% in the MEMID arm and 64.9% in the CEOP arm (p = 0.24). The median OS and EFS were 15.4 and 8.5 months in the MEMID arm, and 20.3 and 10.5 months in the CEOP arm (p = 0.59 and 0.47), respectively. The median EFS was 15.4 months in the MEMID arm and 20.3 months in the CEOP arm (p = 0.59) 	Chamorey et al 2005
CHOP-21 Vs. CHOP-14 Vs. CHOEP-21 Vs. CHOEP-14	Patients with previously untreated aggressive NHL, Age range,, 61- 75yrs n=689	Total, 5 years	P: EFS S: RR,OS, and Toxicity	 Complete remission rates were 60.1% (CHOP-21), 70.0% (CHOEP-21), 76.1% (CHOP-14), and 71.6% (CHOEP-14). Five-year event-free and OS rates were 32.5% and 40.6%, respectively, for CHOP-21 and 43.8% and 53.3%, respectively, for CHOP-14. In a multivariate analysis, the relative risk reduction was 0.66 (P= .003) for EFS and 0.58 (P < .001) for OS after CHOP-14 compared with CHOP-21. Toxicity of CHOP-14 and CHOP-21 was similar, but CHOEP-21 and in particular CHOEP-14 were more toxic 	Pfreundschuh et al 2004 (NHL-B2 Trial)
CHOP Vs. MCOP	Patients with previously untreated aggressive NHL, Median age, 74yrs n=155	Median, 51 months	P: Toxicity S: RR,OS	 The median survival was 19 months (95% confidence interval 10-36 months) with an actuarial survival of 47% at 2 years and 42% at 3 years (CHOP versus MCOP, P = 0.79). There was no significant difference in any of the toxicities experienced with either CHOP or MCOP, except for white cell count (46 patients on MCOP and 27 patients on CHOP 	Bessell et al 2003

				had grade 3 or 4 toxicity, P = 0.002) and red	
				cell transfusion (37 patients, MCOP; 17	
				patients, CHOP; P = 0.001).	
				Grade 3 or 4 neutropenia was documented in	
				75 patients (50%). One patient died from	
				toxicity whilst in remission and seven	
				patients died with septicemia and persistent	
				NHL.	
СНОР	Patients with	Median, 33	P: CR rate	The relative dose intensities (RDIs) of Doorduijn e	et al
	previously	months	and OS	cyclophosphamide (median, 96.3% v 93.9%; P 2003	
Vs.	untreated aggressive NHL.		S: EFS. DFS	= .01) and doxorubicin (median, 95.4% v	
	disease stage II-		and Toxicity	93. 3° : P = .04) were higher in patients	
	IV, Median age 72yrs			treated with CHOP plus G-CSE	
	n=389			treated with chor plus 6-csi.	
				The complete response rates were 55% and	
				52% for CHOP and CHOP plus G-CSF,	
				respectively ($P = .63$).	
				• The actuarial over-all survival at 5 years was	
				22% with CHOP alone, compared with 24%	
				with CHOP plus C CSE $(D = 74)$	
				with CHOP plus G-CSP ($P = .76$).	
				Patients treated with CHOP plus G-CSF had	
				an identical incidence of infections, with	
				World Health Organization grade 3 to 4 (34 of	
				1,191 cycles v 36 of 1,195 cycles).	
				• Only the sumulative days with antibiotics	
				were fower with CHOP plus & CSE (median 0	
				were rewer with CHOP plus G-CSF (median, 0	
	(v 6 days; P =.006) than with CHOP alone.	
				• The number of hospital admissions and the	
				number of days in hospital were not	
				different.	
СНОР	Patjents with	Median, 57	P: TTF	The CR rates in the CHOP/CNOP plus G-CSF Osby et all 2	2003
	previously	months		and CHOP/CNOP groups were the same 52%	
Vs.	untreated		S: CR rate, OS, DFS and	and in the CHOP with or without G-CSE and	
СПОР	disease stage II-		Toxicity	CNOP with or without G-CCE groups 60% and	
Vs	IV, Median age 71yrs			43% (P < 001) respectively	
73.	n=455			45% (r < .001), respectively.	
CHOP + GCSF				No benefit of G-CSF in terms of TTF and OS	
Vs.				could be shown ($P = .96$ and $P = .22$,	
				respectively), whereas CHOP was superior to	
CINUP + GCSF				CNOP (TTF/OS P < .001).	
				The incidences of severe granulocytopopia	
				(World Health Organization grade IV) and	
				(word nearth Organization grade iv) and	
				granulocytopenic infections were higher in	

				patie	nts not receiving (G-CSF.		
				• Tho c	umulativo proport	tion of pationts		
				• mec				
				receiv	ving 90% or more o	of allocated		
				chem	otherapy was high	er (P < .05) in		
				patier	nts receiving G-CS	F.		
				Conce	omitant G-CSF trea	atment did not		
				impro	ove CR rate, TTF, o	or OS.		
				• Patier	nts receiving CHO	P fared better than		
				those	given CNOP chem	otherapy.		
Pegfilgrastim	Patients with NHL	Total, 3	Duration of	Durat	ion of grade 4 neu	Itropenia in cycle 1	Grigg et a	al
Ve	requiring	months	grade 4	was 2	.2 (SD 1.2), 1.5 (S	D 1.1), 0.8 (1.2) and	2003	
٧٥.	standard CHOP		neutropenia	5.0 (2	2.0) days for patie	nts who received		
Daily Filgrastim	chemotherapy,			neofil	grastim 60 micros	/kg_negfilgrastim 100	n	
	ECOG status ≤2, Mean age 70yrs			micro	g/kg_filgrastim 5	microg/kg and no		
	n=27			cvtok	ine, respectively.			
				Ihe b porfil	aseline characteri	stics of the		
				imbal	anced with increa	sed bone-marrow		
				involv	vement and prior t	herapy in the former		
						incrupy in the former.		
		0		When	the treatment gr	oups were balanced		
				for th	ese risk factors, d	luration of grade 4		
				neutr	openia was compa	arable with 2.0 and		
				3.0 vs	s. 0.6 and 0.5 days	s for pegfilgrastim 100)	
				micro	g/kg and filgrasti	m patients with and		
				witho	ut these risk facto	ors, respectively.		
				• The in	ncidence of febrile	e neutropenia (defined	b	
				as AN	C < 0.5 x 10(9)/l a	and temperature >		
				38.2d	egrees C) was low	(10% of patients).		
VNCOP-B + G-CSF	Patients with	Median, 32	OS, RFS, RR,	The C	R rates were 63%	and 56% in the 8- and	Zinzani et	t al
X 8 weeks	previously untreated	months	Toxicity	12-we	eek groups.		2002	
Vs.	aggressive NHL,			Relap	se-free survival ra	ites were 59% and		
VNCOP-B + G-CSF	IV,			55%	respectively			
X 12 weeks	Median age, 71yrs			55/6, 1	copectivety.			
	n=297			• Hema	tological and non	hematological		
				toxici	ties were similar i	in both treatment		
				group	s.			
			Ongoing	g trials				
	1	Ketr	leved from www	w.clinicaltrial	s.gov			
	(Outcome and Pe	duction of	Status	Protocol ID	Completion Date	Last upda	ated
4 X K-CHUP-14 Vs.	Toxicity in Elderly P	Patients With CD2	0+ Aggressive	Recruiting	1901014/0042	October 2019	October 16,	, 2012
4 X R-CHLIP-14	B-Cell Lymphoma	by an Optimised	Schedule of					
Vs. 6 X R-CHOP-14	the Monoclonal Ant	, Substitution						

Vs.	FDG-PET Based Reduction of Therapy.					
6 X R-CHLIP-14						
6 X CHOP-14 Vs.						
6 X CHLIP-14						
R-CVP	Purine-Alkylator Combination In Follicul Lymphoma Immuno-Chemotherapy for Ol	ar Recruiting	NCT01303887	September 2016	May 4, 2011	1
Vs.	Patients: a Phase III Comparison of First-lin CVP Versus R-FC (PACIFICO)	ne R-				
R-FC						
2-weekly	2-Weekly CHOP Chemotherapy With Dose-D	Dense Recruiting	NCT00290667	December 2013	September 9),
rituximab	Rituximab for the Treatment of Patients Ag	ged 61 B-Cell			2011	
Vs.	Lymphomas: A Phase-II/Pharmacokinetic S	Study				
Pharmacokinetic-	(CHOP-R-ESC)					
based dose-dense						
rituximab						
Abbreviations: R-FC	L=Rituximab, Fludarabine, And Cyclophos	sphamide; R-CHOF	=Rituximab, Cycl	lophosphamide, Do	xorubicin,	
Vincristine, And Pre	ednisone; DLBCL=Diffuse Large B-Cell Lyn	npnoma; US=Uver	all Survival; RS=R	elative Survival; Ef	-S= Event-	
Prednicene and Bit	wimabi D VEREC - Epirubicia Cuclophor	t, R-IIIIIICEOP=EPI	o Vinblastino B	Isphannue, vinduas	une,	
Preditisone and Rid	trone Cyclophosphamide Etoposide Vin	cristine Bleomyci	n And Prodnisolo	net CCSE-Granuloc	ne,	
Colony-Stimulating	Factor: EES-Eailure Eree Survival: THP-E	Pirarubicin: COP-0	vclophosphamid	- Vincristing and	yte	
Prednisolone: F=Ft	poside: MFMID=Mitoxantrone VP16 Met	hylglyoxal Ifosfa	nide and Dexame	ethasone.		
CFOP=Cyclophosph	amide. Enjrubicin. Vincristine and Predni	isone: NHI = Non-H	lodgkin's I ympho	ma: VNCOP-		
B=Cvclophosphamic	de, Mitoxantrone, Vincristine, Etoposide,	Bleomycin And Pr	ednisone			
Clinical Expert I	Interest Declaration:					
Professional Interest Publication						
Instructions. Instructions. For each document, please respond YES or NO to all the questions				ns		
below. Provide an explanation of each answer as necessary.						
1. Does any	of the newly identified	No				
evidence	evidence, on initial review, contradict					
the curre	ent recommendations, such that					
the curre	ent recommendations may cause					
harm or	lead to unnecessary or improper					
treatme	nt if followed?					
2. On initia	ll review,	a. Yes				
a. Does the n	newly identified evidence support	b. Yes				
the existin	ng recommendations?					
b. Do the cur	rrent recommendations cover all					
relevant s	ubjects addressed by the					
evidence	such that no new					

recommendations	are necessary?	
3. Is there a good r	eason (e.g., new	No
stronger evidenc	e will be published soon,	
changes to curre	nt recommendations are	
trivial or address	very limited situations)	
to postpone upda	ating the guideline?	
Answer Yes or No	o, and explain if	
necessary:		
4. Do the PEBC and	the DSG/GDG	Not Applicable
responsible for t	his document have the	
resources availat	ole to write a full	
update of this do	ocument within the next	
year?		
Review Outcome	Endorse	
DSG/GDG Approval 24 May, 2013		
Date		
DSG/GDG Commentary None		

New References Identified (alphabetic order):

- 1. Bessell EM, Burton A, Haynes AP, Glaholm J, Child JA, Cullen MH, et al. A randomised multicentre trial of modified CHOP versus MCOP in patients aged 65 years and over with aggressive non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. Annals of Oncology. 2003;14(2):258-67.
- Bonnet C, Fillet G, Mounier N, Ganem G, Molina TJ, Thieblemont C, et al. CHOP alone compared with CHOP plus radiotherapy for localized aggressive lymphoma in elderly patients: A study by the Groupe d'Etude des Lymphomes de l'Adulte. Journal of Clinical Oncology. 2007;25(7):787-92.
- 3. Burton C, Linch D, Hoskin P, Milligan D, Dyer MJS, Hancock B, et al. A phase III trial comparing CHOP to PMitCEBO with or without G-CSF in patients aged 60 plus with aggressive non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. British Journal of Cancer. 2006;94(6):806-13.
- 4. Chamorey E, Gressin R, Peyrade F, Rossi JF, Lepeu G, Foussard C, et al. Prospective randomized study comparing MEMID with a Chop-like regimen in elderly patients with aggressive non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. Oncology. 2005;69(1):19-26.
- 5. Cunningham D, Smith P, Mouncey P, Qian W, Jack AS, Pocock C, et al. R-CHOP14 versus R-CHOP21: Result of a randomized phase III trial for the treatment of patients with newly diagnosed diffuse large B-cell non-Hodgkin lymphoma. Journal of Clinical Oncology. 2011;1).

- 6. Cunningham D, Smith P, Mouncey P, Qian W, Pocock C, Ardeshna KM, et al. A phase III trial comparing R-CHOP 14 and R-CHOP 21 for the treatment of patients with newly diagnosed diffuse large B-cell non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. Journal of Clinical Oncology. 2009;1):8506.
- 7. Delarue R, Tilly H, Salles G, Gisselbrecht C, Mounier N, Fournier M, et al. R-CHOP14 compared to R-CHOP21 in elderly patients with diffuse large B-cell lymphoma: Results of the interim analysis of the LNH03-6B GELA study. Blood. 2009;114 (22).
- 8. Doorduijn JK, Van Der Holt B, Van Imhoff GW, Van Der Hem KG, Kramer MHH, Van Oers MHJ, et al. CHOP compared with CHOP plus granulocyte colony-stimulating factor in elderly patients with aggressive non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. Journal of Clinical Oncology. 2003;21(16):3041-50.
- 9. Feugier P, Van Hoof A, Sebban C, Solal-Celigny P, Bouabdallah R, Ferme C, et al. Long-term results of the R-CHOP study in the treatment of elderly patients with diffuse large B-cell lymphoma: A study by the groupe d'etude des lymphomes de l'adulte. Journal of Clinical Oncology. 2005;23(18):4117-26.
- 10. Grigg A, Solal-Celigny P, Hoskin P, Taylor K, McMillan A, Forstpointner R, et al. Open-label, randomized study of pegfilgrastim vs. daily filgrastim as an adjunct to chemotherapy in elderly patients with non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. Leukemia & Lymphoma. 2003;44(9):1503-8.
- 11. Kluin-Nelemans HC, Hoster E, Hermine O, Walewski J, Trneny M, Geisler CH, et al. Treatment of older patients with mantle-cell lymphoma. New England Journal of Medicine. 2012;367(6):520-31.
- 12. Merli F, Bertini M, Luminari S, Mozzana R, Botto B, Liberati AM, et al. Long term results of a randomized study performed by Intergruppo Italiano Linfomi comparing Mini-CEOP vs P-VEBEC in elderly patients with diffuse large B-cell lymphoma. Leukemia and Lymphoma. 2007;48(2):367-73.
- 13. Merli F, Luminari S, Rossi G, Mammi C, Marcheselli L, Tucci A, et al. Cyclophosphamide, doxorubicin, vincristine, prednisone and rituximab versus epirubicin, cyclophosphamide, vinblastine, prednisone and rituximab for the initial treatment of elderly "fit" patients with diffuse large B-cell lymphoma: results from the ANZINTER3 trial of the Intergruppo Italiano Linfomi. Leukemia & Lymphoma. 2012;53(4):581-8.
- 14. Mori M, Kitamura K, Masuda M, Hotta T, Miyazaki T, Miura AB, et al. Long-term results of a multicenter randomized, comparative trial of modified CHOP versus THP-COP versus THP-COPE regimens in elderly patients with non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. International Journal of Hematology. 2005;81(3):246-54.
- 15. Mounier N, Heutte N, Thieblemont C, Briere J, Gaulard P, Feugier P, et al. Ten-year relative survival and causes of death in elderly patients treated with R-CHOP or CHOP in the GELA LNH-985 trial. Clinical lymphoma, myeloma & leukemia. 2012;12(3):151-4.
- 16. Osby E, Hagberg H, Kvaloy S, Teerenhovi L, Anderson H, Cavallin-Stahl E, et al. CHOP is superior to CNOP in elderly patients with aggressive lymphoma while outcome is unaffected by filgrastim treatment: Results of a Nordic lymphoma group randomized trial. Blood. 2003;101(10):3840-8.
- 17. Pfreundschuh M, Schubert J, Ziepert M, Schmits R, Mohren M, Lengfelder E, et al. Six versus eight cycles of bi-weekly CHOP-14 with or without rituximab in elderly patients with aggressive CD20+ B-cell lymphomas: a randomised controlled trial (RICOVER-60). Lancet Oncology. 2008;9(2):105-16.

- 18. Pfreundschuh M, Trumper L, Kloess M, Schmits R, Feller AC, Rube C, et al. Two-weekly or 3weekly CHOP chemotherapy with or without etoposide for the treatment of elderly patients with aggressive lymphomas: Results of the NHL-B2 trial of the DSHNHL. Blood. 2004;104(3):634-41.
- 19. Zinzani PL, Gherlinzoni F, Storti S, Zaccaria A, Pavone E, Moretti L, et al. Randomized trial of 8-week versus 12-week VNCOP-B plus G-CSF regimens as front-line treatment in elderly aggressive non-Hodgkin's lymphoma patients. Annals of Oncology. 2002;13(9):1364-9.

Literature Search Strategy:

Medline

1. meta-Analysis as topic.mp. [mp=title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, keyword heading word, protocol supplementary concept, rare disease supplementary concept, unique identifier]

2. meta analysis.pt.

3. (meta analy\$ or metaanaly\$).tw.

4. (systematic review\$ or pooled analy\$ or statistical pooling or mathematical pooling or statistical summar\$ or mathematical summar\$ or Quantitative synthes?s or quantitative overview?).tw.

- 5. (systematic adj (review\$ or overview?)).tw.
- 6. (exp Review Literature as topic/ or review.pt. or exp review/) and systematic.tw.

7. or/1-6

8. (cochrane or embase or psychlit or psyclit or psychinfo or psycinfo or cinahl or cinhal or science citation index or scisearch or bids or sigle or cancerlit).ab.

9. (reference list\$ or bibliograph\$ or hand-search\$ or relevant journals or manual search\$).ab.

10. (selection criteria or data extraction or quality assessment or jadad scale or methodological quality).ab.

11. (study adj selection).ab.

12. 10 or 11

13. review.pt.

14. 12 and 13

15. exp randomized controlled trials as topic/ or exp clinical trials, phase III as topic/ or exp clinical trials, phase IV as topic/

16. (randomized controlled trial or clinical trial, phase III or clinical trial, phase IV).pt.

- 17. random allocation/ or double blind method/ or single blind method/
- 18. (randomi\$ control\$ trial? or rct or phase III or phase IV or phase 3 or phase 4).tw.

19. or/15-18

- 20. (phase II or phase 2).tw. or exp clinical trial/ or exp clinical trial as topic/
- 21. (clinical trial or clinical trial, phase II or controlled clinical trial).pt.
- 22. (20 or 21) and random\$.tw.
- 23. (clinic\$ adj trial\$1).tw.
- 24. ((singl\$ or doubl\$ or treb\$ or tripl\$) adj (blind\$3 or mask\$3 or dummy)).tw.
- 25. placebos/
- 26. (placebo? or random allocation or randomly allocated or allocated randomly).tw.
- 27. (allocated adj2 random).tw.
- 28. or/23-27
- 29. practice guidelines/
- 30. practice guideline?.tw.
- 31. practice guideline.pt.
- 32. or/29-31

33. 7 or 8 or 9 or 14 or 19 or 22 or 28 or 32

34. (comment or letter or editorial or note or erratum or short survey or news or newspaper article or patient education handout or case report or historical article).pt.

35. 33 not 34

- 36. limit 35 to english
- 37. Animal/
- 38. Human/
- 39. 37 not 38
- 40. 36 not 39
- 41. exp lymphoma/
- 42. exp lymphoma, non hodgkin/
- 43. 41 or 42
- 44. age?.mp.
- 45. elder:.mp.
- 46. old:.mp.
- 47. 44 or 45 or 46
- 48. 43 and 47
- 49. growth factor?.mp.
- 50. exp granulocyte colony-stimulating factor/
- 51. exp granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor/
- 52. 49 or 50 or 51
- 53. 48 and 52
- 54. 40 and 53
- 55. exp chemotherapy/
- 56. 48 and 55
- 57. 40 and 56
- 58. 54 or 57

59. (200202: or 2003: or 2004: or 2005: or 2006: or 2007: or 2008: or 2009: or 2010: or 2011: or 2012: or 2013:).ed.

60. 58 and 59

Embase

1. exp meta analysis/ or exp systematic review/

2. (meta analy\$ or metaanaly\$).tw.

3. (systematic review\$ or pooled analy\$ or statistical pooling or mathematical pooling or statistical summar\$ or mathematical summar\$ or quantitative synthes?s or quantitative overview).tw.

- 4. (systematic adj (review\$ or overview?)).tw.
- 5. exp review/ or review.pt.

6. (systematic or selection criteria or data extraction or quality assessment or jadad scale or methodological quality).ab.

- 7. (study adj selection).ab.
- 8. 5 and (6 or 7)
- 9. or/1-4,8

10. (cochrane or embase or psychlit or psyclit or psychinfo or psycinfo or cinahl or cinhal or science citation index or scisearch or bids or sigle or cancerlit).ab.

11. (reference list\$ or bibliograph\$ or hand-search\$ or relevant journals or manual search\$).ab.

- 12. exp randomized controlled trial/ or exp phase 3 clinical trial/ or exp phase 4 clinical trial/
- 13. randomization/ or single blind procedure/ or double blind procedure/
- 14. (randomi\$ control\$ trial? or rct or phase III or phase IV or phase 3 or phase 4).tw.

15. or/12-14

16. (phase II or phase 2).tw. or exp clinical trial/ or exp prospective study/ or exp controlled clinical trial/

- 17. 16 and random\$.tw.
- 18. (clinic\$ adj trial\$1).tw.
- 19. ((singl\$ or doubl\$ or treb\$ or tripl\$) adj (blind\$3 or mask\$3 or dummy)).tw.
- 20. placebo/
- 21. (placebo? or random allocation or randomly allocated or allocated randomly).tw.
- 22. (allocated adj2 random).tw.
- 23. or/18-22
- 24. practice guidelines/
- 25. practice guideline?.tw.
- 26. practice guideline.pt.
- 27. or/24-26
- 28. 9 or 10 or 11 or 15 or 17 or 23 or 27
- 29. (editorial or note or letter or erratum or short survey).pt. or letter/ or case study/
- 30. 28 not 29
- 31. limit 30 to english
- 32. Animal/
- 33. Human/
- 34. 32 not 33
- 35. 31 not 34
- 36. exp lymphoma/
- 37. exp lymphoma, non hodgkin/
- 38. 36 or 37
- 39. age?.mp.
- 40. elder:.mp.
- 41. old:.mp.
- 42. 39 or 40 or 41
- 43. 38 and 42
- 44. growth factor?.mp.
- 45. exp granulocyte colony-stimulating factor/
- 46. exp granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor/
- 47. 44 or 45 or 46
- 48. 43 and 47
- 49. 35 and 48
- 50. exp chemotherapy/
- 51. 43 and 50
- 52. 35 and 51
- 53. 49 or 52
- 54. (200202\$ or 2003\$ or 2004\$ or 2005\$ or 2006\$ or 2007\$ or 2008\$ or 2009\$ or 2010\$ or 2011\$ or 2012\$ or 2013\$).ew.
- 55. 53 and 54

ASCO Annual Meeting - searched <u>http://www.ascopubs.org/search</u> with keywords: "Chemoradiotherapy" AND "Non-Hodgkin Lymphoma" AND "Adult" OR "Elderly"

Clinicaltrials.gov - searched <u>http://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/home</u> with keywords: "Chemoradiotherapy" AND "Non-Hodgkin Lymphoma" AND "Adult" OR "Elderly"

OUTCOMES DEFINITION

- ARCHIVED An archived document is a document that will no longer be tracked or updated but may still be useful for academic or other informational purposes. The document is moved to a separate section of our website, each page is watermarked with the phrase "Archived document, not for use in clinical decision making,"
- 2. ENDORSED An endorsed document is a document that has been reviewed by the DSG/GDG for currency and relevance, and determined to be still useful as guidance for clinical decision making. A document may be endorsed because the DSG/GDG feels the current recommendations and evidence are sufficient, or it may be endorsed after a literature search uncovers no evidence that would alter the recommendations in any important way.
- **3. DELAY** A Delay means that there is reason to believe new, important evidence will be released within the next year that should be considered before taking further action.
- 4. UPDATE An Update means that the DSG/GDG recognizes that there is new evidence that makes changes to the existing recommendations in the guideline necessary but these changes are more involved and significant than can be accomplished through the Document Assessment and Review process. The DSG/GDG will rewrite the guideline at the earliest opportunity to reflect this new evidence. Until that time, the document will still be available as its existing recommendations are still of some use in clinical decision making.